# STARS

University of Central Florida
STARS

Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019

2009

# Retrocyclin, A Potent Hiv-1 Entry Inhibitor

Nitya Venkataraman University of Central Florida

Part of the Microbiology Commons, and the Molecular Biology Commons Find similar works at: https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd University of Central Florida Libraries http://library.ucf.edu

This Doctoral Dissertation (Open Access) is brought to you for free and open access by STARS. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019 by an authorized administrator of STARS. For more information, please contact STARS@ucf.edu.

## **STARS Citation**

Venkataraman, Nitya, "Retrocyclin, A Potent Hiv-1 Entry Inhibitor" (2009). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019.* 6144. https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd/6144



# **RETROCYCLIN, A POTENT HIV-1 ENTRY INHIBITOR**

by

# NITYA VENKATARAMAN

B.Sc. Osmania University, India, 1999 M.Sc. Bharathidasan University, India, 2001

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Burnett School of Biomedical Sciences in the College of Medicine at the University of Central Florida Orlando, Florida

Summer Term 2009

Major Professor: Alexander M. Cole Ph.D.

### ABSTRACT

Human immununodeficiency virus (HIV) infection is the leading cause of death due to viral infections worldwide. In the absence of an effective vaccine or consistent male condom use, there is a clear need for female-controlled preventatives such as topical vaginal microbicides. Recent attention has been focused on developing natural antimicrobial peptides, as anti-retroviral microbicides Increasing evidence suggests that cationic antimicrobial peptides such as defensins are effective HIV-1 inhibitors. Human alpha- and beta-defensins contribute substantially to innate immune defenses against microbial and viral infections. Certain nonhuman primates also produce theta-defensins - 18 residue cyclic peptides that are potent HIV-1 entry inhibitors. Multiple human theta-defensin genes exist, but they harbor a premature termination codon that blocks translation. Consequently, the theta-defensins (retrocyclins) encoded within the human genome are not expressed as peptides. In vivo production of thetadefensins in rhesus macaques involves the post-translational ligation of two nonapeptides, each derived from a 12-residue "demidefensin" precursor. Neither the mechanism of this unique process nor its existence in human cells is known. To ascertain if human cells retained the ability to process demidefensing, we transfected human promyelocytic cells with plasmids containing repaired retrocyclin-like genes. The expected peptides were isolated, their sequences were verified by mass spectrometric analyses, and their anti-HIV-1 activity was confirmed in *vitro*. Our study reveals for the first time, to our knowledge, that human cells have the ability to make cyclic theta-defensins. Given this evidence that human cells could make theta-defensins, we attempted to restore endogenous expression of retrocyclin peptides. Since human thetadefensin genes are transcribed, we used aminoglycosides to read-through the premature termination codon found in the mRNA transcripts. This treatment induced the production of intact, bioactive retrocyclin-1 peptide by human epithelial cells and cervicovaginal tissues. The ability to reawaken retrocyclins genes from their 7 million years of slumber using aminoglycosides could provide a novel way to secure enhanced resistance to HIV-1 infection.

Our studies on retrocyclin reveal that they are potential candidates to develop as topical vaginal microbicides to prevent sexual transmission of HIV-1. Mucosal surfaces of the vagina are the portals for heterosexual transmission of HIV-1 and therefore play a fundamental role in the pathogenesis of primary infection. In a search for direct biological evidence for the role of human vaginal fluid in innate host defense, we characterized the anti-HIV-1 function of cationic polypeptides within minimally manipulated vaginal fluid. In our studies, we revealed that vaginal fluid confers intrinsic anti-HIV-1 properties against both X4 and R5 strains of HIV-1, and could protect against HIV-1 infection and reduce proviral genome integration in organotypic cultures of human cervicovaginal tissue. The majority of this activity was contained in the cationic polypeptide fraction, and the depletion of cationic polypeptides using a selective cationexchange resin ablated most of the intrinsic activity against HIV-1. By adding the cationic polypeptide fraction to depleted vaginal fluid, we were able to restore activity against HIV-1. Using a proteomic approach, we identified 18 cationic polypeptides within vaginal fluid, nearly all of which are either known antimicrobials or have other purported roles in host defense. Interestingly, physiologic concentrations of 13 of the cationic polypeptides were alone not active against HIV-1, yet in concert they partially restored the anti-HIV-1 activity of cation-depleted vaginal fluid. These results suggest that synergism between cationic polypeptides is complex and full anti-HIV-1 activity likely involves the aggregate of the cationic peptides and proteins in the acidic human vaginal fluid. Interestingly, retrocyclins retained complete anti-HIV-1 activity

in the presence of human vaginal fluid. Therefore expression of retrocyclin peptides can help activate the natural defense mechanism against HIV-1.

We next investigated the regulation of expression of retrocyclin (pseudo)gene. We identified a putative interferon response cluster upstream of the retrocyclin gene. The activity of this cluster was upregulated when treated with IFN- $\beta$  although to a modest extent. Interestingly, the cluster also contained the binding site for an Interferon Consensus Sequence Binding Protein (ICSBP), a known repressor of the IFN inducible genes. Deletion of the ICSBP site or addition of a known inhibitor of ICSBP resulted in the increase in the activity of the cluster, indicating a role for ICSBP in the negative regulation of expression of retrocyclins. Collectively our data suggest that the expression of this ancestral gene is tightly regulated in both a positive and negative manner via the IFN response pathway.

To my Amma and Appa Mrs. C.Umadevi and Mr. L.Venkataraman

&

in loving memory of my Grand uncle Dr. A. Nagarathinam.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

There are no words to express my deep sense of gratitude to my mentor Dr. Alexander M. Cole for giving me this opportunity to work in his laboratory. I am immensely thankful for his constant encouragement, guidance and interest he took in my work. I am thankful for the trust he had in me and for his efforts to groom me into an independent scientist. I owe a special thanks to Dr. Amy Cole for teaching and helping me through every step of my thesis. She has been a source of constant support though my doctoral process.

I thank my committee members Dr. Laurie von Kalm, Dr. Saleh Naser and Dr. Annette Khaled for their valuable suggestions and critical comments throughout my Ph.D. training. I would like to take this opportunity to Dr. Robert Lehrer for his insightful discussions and help in writing the manuscript.

I would like to extend my thanks to my friends Julie Martellini, Colleen Eade, Matthew Wood, Kit Fuhrman, Ryan Lamers for making these past years memorable. Special thanks to my friends Gowrishankar Muthukrishnan, Anusha Naganathan, Madhura Mukherjee and Krithivasan Shankaranarayanan for bringing home a little bit closer.

There are some people whom we cannot thank enough. I want to thank my grandfather Dr. S. Chandrasekaran for being a source of inspiration and Grandmothers Mrs. L. Bhavani and Mrs. Malathi Chandrasekaran. My love for my father Mr. L. Venkataraman and mother Mrs. C.Umadevi cannot be overstated and I thank them for their constant motivation, incredible strength, innumerable sacrifices and confidence in my abilities. They are the only reasons I

vi

stand here today. I would like to thank my little brother Sriram Venkataraman and my 'Anna' Mahalingam Swaminathan for cheering me on and listening to my endless talk about my projects.

Finally, it is very difficult to summarize my gratitude to my best friend, colleague and beloved husband Dr. Karthikeyan Sivaraman for his relentless support, encouragement and care without which this would not have been possible.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

LIST OF FIGURESxii
LIST OF TABLES xiii
CHAPTER ONE: GENERAL REVIEW1
1.1 Need for topical microbicides against HIV-11
1.2 Update on candidate microbicides1
1.3 Transmission of HIV from the mucosal surface to target cells
1.4 Endogenous antimicrobial components of vaginal mucosa
1.5 Retrocyclins: a potent anti-retroviral peptide
CHAPTER TWO: REAWAKENING RETROCYCLINS: ANCESTRAL HUMAN DEFENSINS
ACTIVE AGAINST HIV-1
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Materials and Methods14
2.2.1 Maintenance of cells, tissues and viruses
2.2.2 Creation of retrocyclin constructs and stably transfected HL60 cells
2.2.3 Acid extraction and affinity purification of retrocyclin peptides
2.2.4 Luciferase-based infection assay to determine anti-HIV-1 activity
2.2.5 Antiviral Infection Assay in suspension cells and HIV-1 p24gag ELISA17
2.2.6 Immuno-dotblot assay17
2.2.7 Immunostaining of stably transfected HL60 cells using anti-RC-101 antibody18
2.2.8 Separation of proteins from stably transfected HL60 extracts using reverse-phase
HPLC18
2.2.9 Mass Spectrometric analysis

2.2.10 Aminoglycoside mediated read-through of termination codon
2.2.11 Application of aminoglycosides to organotypic cervicovaginal tissue model21
2.3 Results and Discussion
2.3.1 Creation of promyelocytic cells stably transfected with retrocyclin constructs
2.3.2 Extracts of promyelocytic cells stably transfected with retrocyclin constructs are active
against HIV-1
2.3.3 Immunofluorescence staining of stably transfected HL60 cells reveals retrocyclin
peptides
2.3.4 Stably transfected promyelocytic cells produce retrocyclin peptides
2.3.5 Aminoglycosides mediate read-through of termination codon of retrocyclin gene and
restore anti-HIV-1 activity
2.3.6 Aminoglycosides induce production of retrocyclin peptides in cervicovaginal tissues
2.4 Conclusion
CHAPTER THREE: CATIONIC POLYPEPTIDES ARE REQUIRED FOR ANTI-HIV-1
ACTIVITY OF HUMAN VAGINAL FLUID
3.1 Introduction
3.2 Materials and methods
3.2.1 Reagents
3.2.2 Collection and processing of vaginal fluid
3.2.3 Selective depletion of cationic polypeptides from vaginal fluid
3.2.4 Cell lines and viruses
3.2.5 Assays to determine anti-HIV-1 activity of vaginal fluid and cationic polypeptides43

3.2.6 Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis of vaginal fluid	43
3.2.7 Identification of cationic polypeptides of vaginal fluid	44
3.2.8 Human Cervicovaginal Tissue Model	44
3.2.9 Detection of HIV-1 provirus in human cervicovaginal tissue	45
3.2.10 Statistics	46
3.3 Results	46
3.3.1 Human vaginal fluid is intrinsically active against HIV-1	46
3.3.2 Anti-HIV-1 activity resides in the cationic fraction of vaginal fluid	48
3.3.3 Identification of cationic polypeptides of vaginal fluid	49
3.3.4 Comparison of proteomic profiles of whole and CM-depleted vaginal fluids revea	ıls
cationic polypeptides that contribute to anti-HIV-1 activity.	51
3.3.5 Individual cationic peptides and proteins at physiologic concentrations are not acti	ve
against HIV-1	54
3.3.6 Cationic polypeptides of vaginal fluid synergize to inhibit HIV-1 infection	55
3.3.7 Vaginal fluid protects against HIV-1 infection of human cervicovaginal tissue	57
3.4 Discussion	58
CHAPTER FOUR: ANALYSIS OF PUTATIVE CLUSTERS OF REGULATORY MODULE	S
IN THE RETROCYCLIN PROMOTER	63
4.1 Introduction	63
4.2 Materials and Methods	65
4.2.1 Maintenance of cell lines	65
4.2.2 Prediction of retrocyclin promoter region	65
4.2.3 Construction of plasmids	65

4.2.4 Transfection and luciferase assay
4.2.5 Statistics
4.3 Results
4.3.1 Computational analysis of retrocyclin promoter region
4.3.2 IFN response elements contribute to activity of retrocyclin promoter
4.3.3 Role of ICSBP/IRF-8 in the regulation of putative clusters of regulatory modules
located on retrocyclin promoter
4.4 Discussion70
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION
APPENDIX : INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD – APPROVED CONSENT FORM FOR
HUMAN SUBJECTS
LIST OF REFERENCES

# **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure 1.1: Structure of Human DEFT-pseudogene
Figure 1.2: Putative post-translational modification of retrocyclin peptides
Figure 2.1: Design of retrocyclin constructs
Figure 2.2: Verification of stable transfection of retrocyclin constructs
Figure 2.3: Extracts from HL60 cells stably transfected with retrocyclin constructs are active
against HIV-1 infection
Figure 2.4: Immunofluorescence staining of stably transfected HL60 cells reveals retrocyclin
peptides
Figure 2.5: Stably transfected promyelocytic cells produce retrocyclin
Figure 2.6: Aminoglycosides mediate read-through of the premature termination codon within
the retrocyclin gene and promote anti-HIV-1 activity
Figure 2.7: Expression of retrocyclins in cervicovaginal tissue model using aminoglycosides35
Figure 3.1: Human Vaginal fluid intrinsically inhibits HIV-1 infection
Figure 3.2: Depletion of cationic proteins from vaginal fluid increases HIV-1 infection
Figure 3.3: Identification of cationic polypeptides in vaginal fluid
Figure 3.4: Comparison of proteomics profiles of whole vaginal fluid and Depleted vaginal fluid
Figure 3.5: Cationic polypeptides of vaginal fluid synergize to inhibit HIV-1 infection
Figure 3.6: Vaginal fluid inhibits HIV-1 infection of human vaginal tissues
Figure 4.1: Schematic representation of the putative cluster on retrocyclin promoter
Figure 4.2: Sequence of an enhancer cluster upstream of retrocyclin gene
Figure 4.3: Activity of retrocyclin enhancer clusters

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Primers used for verification of retrocyclin constructs    10
Table 3.1: Cationic polypeptides identified in vaginal fluid by two-dimensional analysis and
MALDI-TOF MS/MS analysis
Table 3.2: Physiological concentration of cationic proteins that contribute to anti-HIV-1 activity
of vaginal fluid

# **CHAPTER ONE: GENERAL REVIEW**

#### 1.1 Need for topical microbicides against HIV-1

The World Health Organization estimates that 15.5 million women were infected with HIV by the end of 2007, which represents about 50% of total people with HIV worldwide [1,2]. Heterosexual intercourse continues to be the predominant mode of transmission of this pandemic and women are more susceptible to HIV-1 infection than men [3-5]. Although the current HIV treatments reduce mortality and morbidity, access to these medications are not available in many developing and underdeveloped countries. In the absence of effective treatments or vaccines for HIV, many of the current efforts are aimed at developing new measures to prevent transmission of HIV. Condoms are an effective preventive measure but their use is often not negotiable by women due to socio-economic and cultural reasons. Effective female-controlled prophylactic measures that can protect against HIV-1 infection are needed. Topical microbicides, which can be used by the receptive partner, represent a new avenue for the prevention of sexual transmission of HIV.

#### 1.2 Update on candidate microbicides

Much attention and effort has been given to developing detergents (benzalkonium chloride or octoxynol-9 or sodium lauryl sulfate or nonoxynol-9/N-9) that function as a spermicide as well as a microbicide [6-8]. The most promising amongst them nonoxynol-9/N-9, however, failed the clinical trials due to its detrimental effect on human epithelium [9-15]. Currently, there are about 29 diverse candidate microbicides in development which can be broadly categorized as i) agents that disrupt the viral envelope, ii) agents that inhibit entry or fusion of the virus, and iii) agents that enhance the normal vaginal defenses.

Several natural and synthetic polymers that can directly or indirectly disrupt the viral envelope are currently being tested. These include anionic polymers or surfactants that contain sulfated esters of polysaccharides (Example: dextran sulfate/Emmelle<sup>TM</sup> [16-18], cellulose sulfate/Ushercell<sup>TM</sup> [19,20], Carrageenan/ Carraguard<sup>TM</sup> [21-28]) or sulfonated benzene or naphthalene (Polystyrene sulfonate, Polynaphtalene sulfonate/PRO2000 [29-36]) or polycarboxylates (Carbomer974P /BufferGel<sup>TM</sup> [37-41]) and cellulose acetate phthalates [42,43]. However, some of the disadvantages of using anionic polymers as topical microbicides are that they are not broad-spectrum in their activity, they induce proinflammatory cytokines, they have a high toxicity index, they disturb the natural microflora, and they induce ulceration of the vaginal epithelium [44-48]. Natural plant extracts such as Praneem<sup>TM</sup> that exhibit anti-retroviral activity are under preclinical development. Although Phase-II efficacy trials of this herbal extract have been promising so far, the toxicological and long term effects of the repeated use of these formulations on reproductive health has yet to be evaluated [49-52].

The second category of anti-HIV-1 microbicides that are currently in the pipeline undergoing preclinical investigations include viral fusion inhibitors which block the viral proteins or host receptors (CD4, CCR5 or CXCR4) utilized by the virus for entry. Peptidic ligands for receptors CD4 (PRO 542) [53,54] or CCR5 (Maraviroc [55-59], PRO-140 [60-62], PSC-RANTES [63-65]) or CXCR4 (T22, T134, ALX40-4C, CGP 64222) [66,67] show promising anti-HIV-1 activity. An important factor to be considered here is that these chemokine receptors have other functions in the body, which if blocked may lead to undesirable side effects. Therefore, fusion inhibitors that block viral proteins are likely better compounds to develop as microbicides than those that target

the host. Many fusion inhibitors (cyanobacterial lectin Cyanovirin-N [68-73], Enfuvirtide (T20) and its derivatives [74-81]) that block gp41 and prevent entry of the virus to the host membrane have undergone clinical testing.

A more recent 'probiotic' method that acts as fortifiers of vaginal host defense is the use of capsules of *Lactobacilli*, the most common vaginal bacteria. Certain strains of *Lactobacilli sp.* release lactic acid and hydrogen peroxide which can inactivate HIV-1. Epidemiological studies have shown a correlation between increased colonization of lactobacillus and decreased HIV-1 transmission. Bio-engineered Lactobacilli that can express microbicides that target HIV-1 and serve as mucosal drug delivery systems are currently being explored [82-86]. The development of an effective microbicide against HIV-1 also depends on our emerging knowledge of the sexual transmission of the virus.

#### 1.3 Transmission of HIV from the mucosal surface to target cells

Sexual transmission of HIV is predominantly through the mucosal surfaces, particularly the vaginal and rectal mucosa [4]. Underlying the vaginal and rectal mucosa there are dendritic cells, macrophages and T-cells that express CD4 receptor, a primary HIV-1 receptor. Apart from the CD4 receptor, the virus also utilizes secondary chemokine co-receptors CCR5 and CXCR4 to gain entry into target cells. The target cells express more of the CCR5 receptor than CXCR4 receptor on the cell surface. Consequently, R5 (M-tropic) strains of HIV-1, which utilize CCR5 as a co-receptor for entry, are the predominantly sexually transmitted strains [87-98]. Co-receptor usage plays a critical role in HIV-1 disease progression and HIV-1 transmitted *in vivo* is generally M-tropic, but later a tropism switch may occur in many indivduals to X4 (T-tropic) strains, which use

CXCR4 as a co-receptor (Reviewed in [99]). There are several strains of HIV due to the error prone nature of reverse transcriptase. Based on the genetic similarities of these strains they are classified into 3 major groups: Major group (M), Outlier group (O) and New group (N) (Reviewed in [100]). More than 90% of HIV-1 infections belong to HIV-1 group M, while Group O appears to be restricted to west-central Africa and group N, isolated in 1998 in Cameroon, is extremely rare. Within group M there are atleast 9 different genetically distinct subtypes or clades of HIV-1 (subtypes A, B, C, D, F, G, H, J and K) [100-102]. Subtype B has been the most common subtype that has been isolated from many parts of the world [101]. An individual can be infected with more than one subtype of HIV-1 and occasionally, the two viruses of different subtypes can hybridize to create a more virulent recombinant virus [102-104]. Moreover, it has been observed that certain HIV-1 subtypes are predominantly associated with a specific mode of transmission. In particular, subtype B is spread mostly by homosexual contact and intravenous drug use (essentially via blood), while subtype C was associated with heterosexual epidemics (via a mucosal route) [105]. Whether there are biological causes for the observed differences in transmission routes remains a subject of debate.

The mechanism by which the virus shuttles across the mucosal epithelium and infects the underlying target cells is not clear. One of the proposed mechanisms involves M cells, specialized cells present in the gastrointestinal and rectal epithelium that aid in delivering the virus across the tight epithelial layer. The dendritic cells (DCs) can directly bind the HIV-1 envelope protein gp120 via a C-type lectin DC-SIGN and shuttle the virus across the epithelial layer in order to deliver it to the underlying CD4+ T-cells [106,107].

The fusion of HIV into target cells involves the binding of the host CD4 receptor and appropriate secondary receptor to the viral envelope glycoproteins gp120 and gp41 subunits. The mechanism of viral fusion involves two helical regions of gp41, an N-terminal heptad repeat (HR1) and a C-terminal heptad repeat (HR2) [108-110]. The HR1 and HR2 helical regions form a six-helix-bundle, in which three  $\alpha$ -helices formed by HR2 peptides pack in an antiparallel manner against a central HR1 homotrimer. This six-helix bundle aids and stabilizes the formation of a pore on the host cell membrane, which allows the transfer of viral genome and proteins into the host cells [109,110]. Despite a wealth of knowledge on HIV propagation / infection of immune cells, early events from the breach of vaginal mucosa to the establishment of infection are poorly understood [4]. Moreover, the vaginal mucosa is a complex environment consisting of numerous endogenous antimicrobial components that contribute to innate host defense.

#### 1.4 Endogenous antimicrobial components of vaginal mucosa

Cationic antimicrobial proteins are integral components of the vaginal mucosa that contribute to the innate antiviral activity. Many antimicrobial peptides including lysozyme, lactoferrin, calprotectin, secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor (SLPI), human neutrophil peptides (HNP-1, -2 & -3) and  $\beta$ -defensins [111,112], are released into the vaginal fluid by the epithelial cells and neutrophils, and likely contribute to the innate defense of this surface.

Although reported evidence is available for the activity of vaginal fluid against pathogens, attention to its role in protecting against HIV-1 virus has been given only recently. Several studies have analyzed the antiviral properties of the three most abundant proteins on mucosal surfaces: lysozyme, lactoferrin and SLPI. Lysozyme and lactoferrin have been shown to reduce the

absorption and penetration of HIV-1 virus *in vitro* [113,114] although the activity was only modest. Recent data suggests that SLPI, secreted by the mucosal epithelial and acinar cells, blocks HIV-1 infection of monocytes and T cells by preventing internalization of the virus [114-117]. Several reports have shown that the level of SLPI is reduced in vaginal fluid of HIV-infected persons. However, other reports suggest that SLPI has no effect on HIV replication [118], and this debate persists.

Other known effectors of natural host defense present in vaginal mucosal secretions are defensins, a large family of cationic antimicrobial peptides. Defensins are the most widely studied family of antimicrobial peptides. They contain six cysteines that form three disulphide- bridges and are predominantly composed of  $\beta$ -sheets. Based on the position of the cysteines and the intramolecular disulphide bonds, defensins are grouped in to three subfamilies:  $\alpha$ -defensins,  $\beta$ defensins and  $\theta$ -defensins [119-127]. Alpha-defensins (HNP-1 to -3) inhibit HIV-1 replication in vitro by two mechanisms: in the absence of serum, they inhibit HIV-1 replication before viral integration in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, and in the presence of serum, they interfere with the signaling pathways on target cells and block the nuclear import and transcription of the HIV-1 genome [128-130]. Human  $\beta$ -defensing have been shown to inhibit HIV-1 replication by modulating the CXCR4 co-receptor and also by interacting directly with the HIV-1 virions [131]. It is to be noted that many of the above mentioned studies analyzed the effect of only one or two antimicrobial peptides, and thus the synergistic activity of these peptides in a biologically relevant system was not explored. Using an integrated proteomic approach we identified the cationic antimicrobial peptides of vaginal fluid. Further we demonstrated that these peptides contribute to the innate antiretroviral activity of vaginal fluid [132] (Chapter 3).

Despite the presence of these numerous antiviral peptides, HIV-1 transmission is on the rise. In our efforts to develop effective therapeutics against this virus, we have focused our attention on the third subclass of defensins, known as theta-defensins. Synthetic human theta-defensins (retrocyclins) were found to be potent inhibitors of HIV-1 entry [120,128,133-135], and are the subject of **Chapter 2**.

#### 1.5 Retrocyclins: a potent anti-retroviral peptide

Theta-defensins are the most recently identified defensin subfamily, isolated initially from leukocytes and bone marrow of the rhesus monkey *Macacca mulatta* [136]. Theta-defensins are expressed in Old World monkeys and orangutans; however  $\theta$ -defensin genes (DEFT) in humans are pseudogenes [134]. A premature termination codon mutation in the signal peptide region prevents translation of human DEFT mRNA [134]. The structure of a human DEFT pseudogene and predicted cDNA is shown in **Figure 1.1A**. Multiple copies of the human DEFT pseudogenes, likely derived by gene duplication, are located in the chromosome 8p23 region which is consistent with the location of many  $\alpha$ -defensin and  $\beta$ -defensin genes [134,137,138]. Phylogenetic analysis reveals that DEFT genes may have been derived by mutation of  $\alpha$ -defensin genes (DEFA) in Old World monkeys and must have arisen during evolution after the orangutan and human lineages diverged. Interestingly, orangutans have both the intact DEFT gene and the DEFT pseudogenes in their genome [134]. Sequence homology between orangutan alpha defensin (DEFA) and human theta-defensin gene (DEFT) is shown in the **Figure 1.1B**.



**Figure 1.1: Structure of Human DEFT-pseudogene**. A) Structure of Human DEFT-1 pseudogene showing the relative length and position of the 3 exons (5'UTR, Exon-2 and Exon-3) and 2 introns. The red lines represents termination codon, orange block represents truncated C-terminal domain of alpha-defensin and the blue block represents the 3' region of the pseudogene. B) An alignment of translated human DEFT-1 pseudogene and alpha-defensin coded by DEFA-1 of orangutan. "-"represents termination codons. The \* indicates the mutated 17th residue with a termination codon in DEFT-1 and a glutamine (Q) in DEFA-1.

The theta-defensin nascent peptides in rhesus monkeys (RTD) undergo extensive post-translational modification to give rise to the biologically active, mature theta-defensin peptide [136,139,140]. Mature theta-defensins are composed of 18 residues created by the processing and subsequent fusion of two precursor propeptides. Neither the exact mechanism nor the succession of events in this complex pathway is known. Each of the two precursor propeptides generates a nonapeptide containing three cysteines contributing to the three disulphide-bonds in the mature peptide. Also, the two processed nonamers undergo mutual head-to-tail fusion resulting in a macrocyclic final product. There are two types of human theta-defensin pseudogenes that encode two different

nonapeptides (DEFT-1 and DEFT-4) as indicated in **Figure 1.2**. If the premature termination codon in these genes were restored to a conserved glutamine, then there would be three possible retrocyclin peptides that could be expressed from the two precursor polypeptides. These possible retrocyclin peptides and their putative post-translational processing are illustrated in **Figure 1.2**.



**Figure 1.2: Putative post-translational modification of retrocyclin peptides.** Figure shows a schematic representation of the retrocyclin pseudogene with the relative position of the exons and the spliced mRNA

transcript encoding the signal peptide, propiece and the mature peptide region.  $\otimes 17Q$  represents the codon on rescued retrocyclin cDNA in which the mutant termination codon ( $\otimes$  /red) was replaced by a conserved glutamine (Q / dark blue). The putative post-translational modification process in which the precursor peptides that contain the nonapeptide undergo 1) an unknown enzymatic cleavage followed by 2) disulfide-bond formation and 3) cyclization by ligation of the N-and C-termini of the two nonapeptides. The three possible mature retrocyclin peptides that could be formed from homodimers of DEFT-1 nonapeptide (RC-100), heterodimers of DEFT-1 and DEFT-4 nonapeptides (RC-100b), and homodimers of DEFT-4 nonapeptide (RC-100c) are indicated.

Synthetic retrocyclins created by solid-state synthesis exhibited properties similar to rhesus thetadefensins [141]. They also were shown to inhibit early stage HIV-1 infection and replication of both X4 and R5 viruses in cell lines (H9) and primary CD4+ lymphocytes [141,142]. Of particular interest was a lysine retrocyclin congener (RC-101) that was twice as active as the native RC-100 peptide, and protected PBMCs completely against HIV-1 infection [135]. Both RC-100 and RC-101 exhibited broad-spectrum and enhanced activity against over two dozen primary isolates from several clades of HIV-1 [128,143]. They are not cytotoxic to human cell lines and when applied topically to organotypic cervicovaginal tissues they induced minimal inflammation and tissue damage [144]. Retrocyclins remain active in the presence of acidic vaginal fluid and likely act in synergy with the other antimicrobial peptides of vaginal secretions. Retrocyclins, due to their many desirable properties discussed above, are potent candidate topical microbicides that could protect against HIV infection.

Retrocyclins prevent HIV-1 entry by inhibiting the fusion of HIV-1 envelope by selectively binding to the C-terminal heptad repeat region of gp41 thereby blocking 6-helix bundle formation [145,146]. A study in which HIV-1 BaL was passaged with sub-inhibitory concentrations of

retrocyclins for 100 days showed that the viral envelope gained modest resistance [147]. It is ironic that DEFT genes are silenced in the human genome, since retrocyclins are not only active against HIV-1, but also against several other viruses including Influenza A [148] and Herpes Simplex virus type I [149]. We envisioned that restoring the endogenous expression of retrocyclins in human cells could help strengthen the innate host defense against many pathogens.

Despite a large body of information available on the properties of retrocyclins, certain questions remain unanswered. If retrocyclin genes were still intact, can active, correctly folded retrocyclins be expressed in human cells? Moreover, will endogenous production of retrocyclins confer protection against HIV-1 infection? To answer these questions, we restored the premature termination codon using site-directed mutagenesis and found that human cells have still retained the machinery to process and create macrocyclic retrocyclin peptides [150]. We next explored alternative ways to activate the endogenous expression of retrocyclins using aminoglycosides that can allow read through of the premature termination codon in human cells [151-155]. Importantly, restoring the expression of retrocyclins in human cells and cervicovaginal tissues conferred protection from HIV-1 entry [150]. These studies have been elaborated in **Chapter 2**.

# CHAPTER TWO: REAWAKENING RETROCYCLINS: ANCESTRAL HUMAN DEFENSINS ACTIVE AGAINST HIV-1

#### **2.1 Introduction**

Nearly 33 million people are infected with HIV worldwide [156,157], and despite extensive efforts there are no effective vaccines or other countermeasures to protect against HIV transmission [158]. In our attempts to find effective anti-HIV agents, our group determined that certain synthetic  $\theta$ -defensins called "retrocyclins" are potent inhibitors of HIV-1 infection [128,133,141,143,159]. Retrocyclins belong to a large family of antimicrobial peptides known as defensins, all of which are cationic, tri-disulfide bonded peptides that have important roles in innate host defense. Based on the position of the cysteines and the disulfide bonding pattern, defensins are grouped into 3 subfamilies:  $\alpha$ -defensins,  $\beta$ -defensins and  $\theta$ -defensins [121,160].

 $\theta$ -Defensins such as retrocyclin have a cyclic peptide backbone, derived from the head-to-tailligation of two peptides that each contributes nine amino acids to form the 18 residue mature peptide [136].  $\theta$ -Defensins are the only known cyclic peptides in mammals and were originally isolated from rhesus macaque leukocytes and bone marrow [136,139,161]. While  $\theta$ -defensin peptides are produced in old world monkeys and orangutans, in humans they exist only as expressed pseudogenes [134]. A premature termination codon in the signal peptide portion of human retrocyclin mRNA prevents its translation. The retrocyclin gene is otherwise remarkably intact, showing 89.4% identity with rhesus  $\theta$ -defensins. Its genetic information was utilized to recreate retrocyclins synthetically and confirm their activity against both X4 and R5 strains of HIV-1 [128,133,141,159]. Retrocyclins inhibit the fusion of HIV-1 Env by selectively binding to the C-terminal heptad repeat region on gp41 blocking 6-helix bundle formation [145,146]. RC-101 is a congener of retrocyclin with a single arginine to lysine substitution that retains structural and functional similarity to retrocyclin [141]. RC-101 exhibited enhanced anti-HIV-1 activity against over two dozen primary isolates from several clades [128,143], and did not induce inflammation or toxicity in organotypic models of human cervicovaginal tissue [162]. Continuous passaging of HIV-1 BaL in the presence of sub-inhibitory concentrations of RC-101 for 100 days induced only minimal viral resistance [147]. Given these beneficial attributes, we envisioned that restoring the endogenous expression of retrocyclins in humans would provide an effective and natural way of combating HIV-1 infection.

In the current study, we restored the translation of this evolutionarily lost retrocyclin peptide by ablating the premature termination codon using site-directed mutagenesis, and analyzed whether human cells can synthesize biologically active retrocyclins. We found that promyelocytic HL60 cells stably transfected with retrocyclin constructs in which the premature termination codon was corrected could express retrocyclins. Application of the expressed retrocyclins to TZM-bl cells, PM1 cells, and PBMCs conferred protection against HIV-1 infection. Moreover, mass spectrometric techniques confirmed the presence of correctly folded mature retrocyclin peptides. We also explored methods to read-through the premature termination codon within the retrocyclin pseudogene. Previous reports revealed that aminoglycoside antibiotics could suppress the termination codon of pseudogenes and disease-associated nonsense mutations [151,153-155,163-165]. In bacteria, aminoglycosides bind strongly to the decoding site on the 16S rRNA, thereby hindering protein synthesis [166]. However, in eukaryotes, aminoglycosides bind to the eukaryotic decoding site with low affinity and induce a low level of translational misreading, which

suppresses the termination codon through the incorporation of an amino acid in its place [167]. Herein, we utilized aminoglycosides to induce translational read-through of the  $\theta$ -defensin pseudogene, which restored the expression of functional anti-HIV-1 retrocyclin peptides in human cervicovaginal tissue models. Topical application of aminoglycosides to produce endogenous retrocyclins in the vaginal mucosa might soon be an effective preventative to combat sexual transmission of HIV-1.

#### 2.2 Materials and Methods

#### 2.2.1 Maintenance of cells, tissues and viruses

HL60 cells [168,169] obtained from ATCC were cultured in Iscoves's DMEM with 20% FBS, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 g/ml streptomycin (I20). TZM-bl cells [170] stably expressing CD4, CCR5 & CXCR4, has firefly luciferase gene under the control of HIV-1 promoter (from Dr. Kappes, Dr. Wu and Tranzyme Inc). TZM-bl, HOS-CD4-CCR5 [171,172] (from Dr. Landau), PM1 cells [173], (from Dr. Reitz) and HIV-1 BaL, an R5 tropic strain, were all procured through the NIH AIDS Research and Reference Reagent program. HIV-1 BaL viral stocks were prepared by infecting PM1 cells [147]. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were isolated from blood drawn from a healthy HIV-1 seronegative donor as per the guidelines of the institutional review board of University of Central Florida. PBMCs were isolated using Lymphosep® (MP biomedicals LLC, Solon, OH), and cultured in RPMI-1640 medium with 10% FBS (R10) supplemented with 50 Units of IL-2 (R10-50U) and 5 g/ml of phytohemagglutinin (PHA) for 3 days. The cells were then resuspended in R10-50U at a density of 0.8 x  $10^6$  cells/ml and grown for 5-6 days. Cervicovaginal tissues (EpiVaginal  $^{TM}$ ) were obtained from MatTek Corp., Ashland, MA and maintained in proprietary growth medium as per the company's guidelines. The tissues were composed of a full-thickness, stratified vaginal-ectocervical layer intermixed with Langehans cells and underlying lamina propria. The tissues were allowed to grow on transwell cell culture inserts at the air-liquid interface.

#### **2.2.2 Creation of retrocyclin constructs and stably transfected HL60 cells**

Retrocyclin cDNA was amplified from human bone marrow cDNA and cloned into pCRII-TOPO vector (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Two mutations, Termination codon ( $\otimes 17$ )  $\rightarrow$  Gln (Q17) and Arg (R70) $\rightarrow$ Lys (K70) were introduced, either  $\otimes$ 17Q alone (RC-100) or both (RC-101) using Ouick change® site-directed mutagenesis (Stratagene, LaJolla, CA) and subcloned in-frame into the phCMV-luc-FSR vector (Genlantis, San Diego, CA) to generate four constructs R1, R3, A1 and A3 (Figure 2.1A). Plasmids R1 and A1 encode RC-100 nonapeptide while R3 and A3 encode RC-101 nonapeptide. Constructs A1 and A3 have a longer insert that includes additional downstream residues. HL60 cells (10<sup>7</sup> cells/ 400 1 Iscove's DMEM) were co-transfected with 2 g each of linearized R1, R3 or A1, A3 or phCMV-luc vector alone, by electroporation (exponential decay wave mode- 280 V; 975 F) and selected in I20 medium with 300 g/ml G418 sulfate. Stable transfectants thus produced were named according to the constructs used for cotransfection (R1R3, A1A3 or Vector Control: VC). Presence of these constructs in the cells was verified using PCR of genomic DNA (Figure 2.2A). PCR conditions used were the following: initial denaturation at 95°C for 3 min; 30 cycles of 95°C for 1 min, 58°C for 1 min, 72°C for 2 min followed by a final extension at 72°C for 7 min. Sequences of the primers used for the PCR reaction are listed in **Table 2.1**. RNA was extracted from 10<sup>6</sup> cells (HL60, VC, R1R3 and A1A3) using TRIzol (Invitrogen), cleaned with DNaseI (Ambion Inc., Austin TX) and cDNA synthesized (iScript<sup>TM</sup>, BioRad, Hercules CA). Expression of recombinant genes was verified by PCR from the cDNA and subsequent restriction digestion using HpyCH4V (New England Biolabs, Beverly, MA) (**Figure 2.2B and 2.2C**).

Table 2.1: Primers used for verification of retrocyclin constructs

Primer Name	Sequence	Accession Number	Primer Location	Template
DEFT_Fwd	TCCTCACTGCCATGCTTCT	AF526271.1	29-47	Genomic DNA
		AF355799	92-110	cDNA
DEFT_Rev	TTATAACAAACGGCAAATTCCT	AF526271.1	897-918	Genomic DNA
		AF355799	285-306	cDNA

# 2.2.3 Acid extraction and affinity purification of retrocyclin peptides

HL60 cells (control, VC, R1R3 and A1A3) were extracted with 5% acetic acid by vortexing for 20 min, centrifuged for 10 min at 10,000 x g, supernatants were then vacuum-dried and resuspended in 0.01% acetic acid. HL60 acid extracts (equivalent of 20 x  $10^6$  cells) were affinity purified using anti-RC-101 polyclonal antisera immobilized to a Carbolink<sup>TM</sup> coupling gel (Pierce Biotechnology Inc. Rockford, IL) prepared according to the manufacturer's instructions. Immunopurified samples were desalted using Sep-Pak C-18 cartridges (Waters, Milford, MA). The eluates were then dried and resuspended in 100 1 of 0.01% acetic acid. 100 g of synthetic RC-101 peptide was also affinity purified as positive control (RC-101 IP).

# 2.2.4 Luciferase-based infection assay to determine anti-HIV-1 activity

TZM-bl cells (4000 cells/well; 96-well plate) were infected with HIV-1 Ba L (2-6.5 ng/ml of

p24<sup>gag</sup>) in the presence of vehicle (0.01% acetic acid) or HL60 extracts (from 0.25 x 10<sup>6</sup> control or A1A3 or R1R3 cells) or affinity purified extracts (from 0.625 x 10<sup>6</sup> control HL60 or VC or R1R3 or A1A3 cells or RC-101 IP diluted 1:32 times) or RC-101 (20 g/ml) (positive control) for 24 hr. Treatments were then removed and the infection was quantified by measuring luciferase using Bright-Glo reagents (Promega, Madison, WI) in an LMax luminometer (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA). Cytotoxicity and metabolic activity of cells were verified by a tetrazolium-based MTT assay (R& D systems, Minneapolis, MN) performed on identically treated cells.

## 2.2.5 Antiviral Infection Assay in suspension cells and HIV-1 p24gag ELISA

Acid extracts of stably transfected HL60 cells were vacuum-dried and resuspended in PBS. PM1 cells (10<sup>5</sup> cells) or PBMCs (10<sup>6</sup> cells) were treated with PBS (vehicle) or HL60 extracts (from 10<sup>4</sup> cells for PM1 and 10<sup>5</sup> for PBMCs) of control cells or A1A3 cells or 10 g/ml of synthetic RC-101 and infected with HIV-1 BaL (2 ng of p24/ml) in 100 1 of RPMI medium with 20% FBS (R20) for 2 hr. Cells were then washed with 2 ml of R20, resuspended in fresh medium containing the treatments and cultured for 5-9 days. Subsequently on alternate days culture supernatants were collected and fresh medium with the corresponding treatments was added. Viability of the cells was measured using trypan blue exclusion assay. Amount of HIV-1 virus in the culture supernatants was quantified by ELISA for HIV-1 p24<sup>gag</sup> (Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA).

#### 2.2.6 Immuno-dotblot assay

Peptides RC-100, RC-100b, RC-101, RC-101\_2K, synthetic protegrin-1 (PG-1), Rhesus theta defensin-1 (RTD-1) and human neutrophil peptides 1-3 (HNP 1-3) or unknown samples were dotted (4 1 dot) as indicated on a 0.22 m PVDF membrane (Immobilon-P) that was activated

with methanol and presoaked in TBS. The membrane was then probed with 1:1000 rabbit anti-RC-101 antibody and developed using Immun<sup>™</sup>- star HRP reagent (BioRad) [162].

#### 2.2.7 Immunostaining of stably transfected HL60 cells using anti-RC-101 antibody

HL60 cells (VC, R1R3 and A1A3) were fixed on slides (100,000 cells/ slide), immersed in 10% Formalin in PBS for 10 min, washed (PBS for 2 min), incubated in Target retrieval solution (Dako North America Inc. Carpinteria, CA) for 20 min at 95°C, cooled to 25°C, washed, blocked (2% Goat Serum, 0.1% Triton-X, 0.05% Tween-20, antibody buffer (10 mg/ml BSA/1 mg/ml gelatin/PBS) for 20 min and incubated in rabbit pre-immune serum or rabbit anti-RC-101 antibody (1:5000 in antibody buffer) overnight. Slides were washed, incubated in biotinylated goat anti-rabbit IgG antibody (1:20,000 in 1% goat serum/PBS for 30 min), followed by additional washing and treatment with Fluorescein-Avidin D (Vector Laboratories Inc.; 1:500 in PBS for 30 min). Cover slips were mounted using Vectashield fluorescence mounting medium and visualized using a Zeiss Axiovert 200M microscope system.

Tissues for immunofluorescence staining were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and slides were prepared by Mass Histology (Worcester, MA). The slides were deparaffinized, washed with TBS, and stained with anti-retrocyclin or pre-immune serum and immunostained the same way as cells. The slides were then visualized on a Zeiss Axiovert 200M microscope system with 450 ms exposure time for all slides.

# 2.2.8 Separation of proteins from stably transfected HL60 extracts using reverse-phase HPLC

Acid extracts from control HL60 and A1A3 cells (equivalent of  $100 \times 10^6$  cells) were separated by

RP- HPLC using the Alliance HT Waters 2795 Separations Module on a  $C_{18}$  Column equilibrated in solvent A (aqueous 0.1% TFA). Elution was done with a gradient of 0- 95 % solvent B (0.08% TFA in acetonitrile), for 75 min, at 1 ml/min. Collected fractions (1 ml each) were vacuum-dried and reconstituted in 100 1 of 0.01% acetic acid. Synthetic RC-101 peptide (control) was recovered from the fractions eluting at 26-28 min. A1A3 HPLC fractions (#23-28) were electrophoresed on a 16% Tricine-SDS gel and electroblotted on a 0.22 m PVDF membrane at 180mA for 22 min. The western blot membrane was then processed as described [162] and developed with ChemiGlow reagent (Alpha Innotech, San Leandro, CA). A1A3 RP-HPLC fractions (27-30 min) were pooled and the concentration was determined to be (2.13 ng/ l) by densitometry measurements using Quantity one 1-D analysis (BioRad). A luciferase-based assay was used to verify the activity of A1A3 HPLC fractions (diluted 3 times in D10) against HIV-1 BaL (2 ng p24/ml).

MatTek cervicovaginal tissues treated with PBS (control) or 10  $\mu$ g/ml tobramycin were extracted with T-PER® reagent (Pierce Biotechnology Inc. Rockford, IL) and separated by RP-HPLC. 20  $\mu$ g of synthetic retrocyclin (RC-100) was also separated as a positive control. Synthetic RC-100 was eluted in fractions collected at 27-29 min. Tissue samples eluted at 27-29 min were vacuum-dried to near dryness and resuspended in 100  $\mu$ l of 0.01% acetic acid. HPLC fractions (27-29 min) of MatTek tissue extracts (control or tobramycin-treated) and synthetic RC-100 were analysed by immuno-dotblot analysis.

## **2.2.9 Mass Spectrometric analysis**

A1A3 HPLC Fraction 26, RC-101 and RC-101\_2K were reduced, alkylated and treated with Lys-

C protease for 30 min before analyzing by mass spectrometry. In brief, 20 mM Tris [2-carboxyethyl] phosphine (TCEP) was used to reduce (30 min at 25 °C) the samples, alkylated by incubating the samples with iodoacetamide (60 mM; 45 min at 25 °C; pH 8-9) followed by digestion with Lys-C (Wako Chemicals, Richmond, VA; 30 min at 37 °C) and subjected to MALDI-TOF-MS analysis using a model 4700 Proteomics Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) as described previously [132]. Lys-C digested RC-101 was desalted using C18 ZipTip (Millipore Corp., Billerica, MA) and subjected to Edman degradation on cLC-Procise sequencer (Applied Biosystems).

#### 2.2.10 Aminoglycoside mediated read-through of termination codon

Wildtype and mutant retrocyclin cDNAs were subcloned into phCMV-luc-FSR vector to create unrescued RC-101 and rescued RC-101 C-terminal luciferase fusion constructs, and verified by sequencing. HOS-CD4-CCR5 cells were cultured in antibiotic free growth medium (D10<sup>-</sup>) and co-transfected with 0.5 g of unrescued or rescued (positive control) RC-101 plasmids along with 0.1 g of phRL-CMV vector (transfection control containing renilla luciferase gene) using Effectene transfection reagent (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). The next day cells were treated for 24 hr with the appropriate aminoglycoside (40 g/ml amikacin or 5 g/ml gentamicin or 10 g/ml tobramycin) or D10<sup>-</sup> for control cells. Read-through was determined by measuring luciferase and renilla levels using a dual luciferase assay (Promega).

TZM-bl cells (4000 cells/well; 96 well plate) were cultured in D10<sup>-</sup> and treated with vehicle (PBS buffered D10<sup>-</sup>) or peptides RC-101 or RC-100 (2.5 g/ml each) as positive control or

aminoglycosides as before for 30 min followed by infection with HIV-1 BaL (p24 of 2 ng/ml) at 37°C for 24 hr. Subsequently, viral infection was quantified by measuring luciferase levels using Bright-Glo reagents (Promega). Cellular metabolism was monitored by measuring reduction the ability of cellular dehydrogenases to reduce MTT to formazan (R& D systems).

TZM-bl cells were cultured on coverslips and treated with PBS control or  $10 \,\mu$ g/ml of tobramycin for 24 hr. The coverslips were then processed for immunofluorescence staining with antiretrocyclin (rabbit anti-RC-101 antibody) or pre-immune serum as described above.

For antibody-mediated neutralization experiments, TZM-bl cells (4000 cells/well; 96 well plate) were cultured in D10<sup>-</sup> medium and treated with vehicle (PBS) or 10  $\mu$ g/ml of tobramycin for 24 hr. The next day, cells were treated with either rabbit preimmune or anti-retrocyclin serum diluted 1:10 in D10<sup>-</sup> medium containing tobramycin or RC-100 (2.5  $\mu$ g/ml). Two hours later the cells were infected with HIV-1 BaL (p24 of 5 ng/ml) at 37°C for 24 hr. Viral infection was quantified as described above. An MTT assay was performed to confirm that the treatments were not cytotoxic (data not shown).

## 2.2.11 Application of aminoglycosides to organotypic cervicovaginal tissue model

Cervicovaginal tissues were treated topically with 100  $\mu$ l of PBS (control; n = 4) or with 10  $\mu$ g/ml of tobramycin (n = 8) for 24 hr. Viability was assessed on control and tobramycin-treated tissue (n =1) using MTT assay kit (MatTek Corp., Ashland, MA). Cytotoxicity was measured by quantifying lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity in the underlying medium collected 24 hr after

treatment with PBS or tobramycin by using CytoTox96 non-radioactive cytotoxicity assay kit (Promega Corp., Madison, WI).

#### 2.3 Results and Discussion

#### 2.3.1 Creation of promyelocytic cells stably transfected with retrocyclin constructs

 $\theta$ -Defensins are formed by posttranslational modification of two 12-residue gene products, each of which is processed to give a nonapeptide that contains three cysteines. The N-terminus of one nonapeptide forms a peptide bond with the C-terminus of another nonapeptide, resulting in a cyclic 18 residue peptide with three intramolecular disulfide bonds [134,136]. To determine if human cells have retained the ability to process  $\theta$ -defensins, we transfected promyelocytic HL60 cells with retrocyclin constructs each encoding a nonapeptide in which the premature termination codon was replaced with a glutamine ( $\otimes$ 17Q).

Four types of constructs were produced: R1, R3, A1 and A3 (Figure 2.1). Aside from the corrected premature termination codon ( $\otimes$ 17Q), all constructs were engineered to contain two termination codons at the end of the gene to ensure read-fidelity. Constructs with an "R" designation terminate after the retrocyclin portion of the gene, while constructs with an "A" designation contain the retrocyclin portion with additional downstream residues that might be critical for translation and/or processing [134,174]. Constructs with a "1" designation do not have any additional residues mutated, while constructs with a "3" designation have the additional Arg to Lys mutation (R70K) encoding the RC-101 nonapeptide.


**Figure 2.1: Design of retrocyclin constructs.** (A) Shows a schematic of the 4 constructs (R1, R3, A1 and A3) used for stable transfections along with native retrocyclin cDNA. All constructs have two termination codons at the end to ensure read-fidelity (red). Constructs A1 and A3 contain additional downstream residues (orange) while constructs R1 and R3 lack them. The two arrows indicate the position at which the two site-directed mutagenesis ( $\otimes$ 17Q and R70K) were performed. (B) Shows the three possible mature retrocyclin peptides that could be formed from the constructs, homodimers of R1 or A1 encoding RC-100 (wild type retrocyclin), heterodimers of A1 and A3 or R1 and R3 encoding RC-101 (single lysine congener) and homodimers of R3 or A3 encoding RC-101\_2K (double lysine congener).

HL60 cells were co-transfected by electroporation with either R1 and R3, or A1 and A3, and propagated in the presence of G418 (300 g/ml) to create stably transfected cell lines. Stable transfection was verified by analyzing genomic DNA and mRNA (**Figure 2.2**). Since two different constructs were co-transfected for each condition, combinatorially it would be possible to generate three different retrocyclin peptides as illustrated in **Figure 2.1B**. For example, if cells were co-transfected with the R1 and R3 constructs, they could theoretically generate a heterodimer (R1R3) or homodimers (R1R1 or R3R3).



**Figure 2.2: Verification of stable transfection of retrocyclin constructs.** Analysis of the genomic DNA and RNA of transfected HL60 cells confirms the stable transfection and transcription of rescued retrocyclin constructs respectively. (A) PCR on genomic DNA template from transfected HL60 cells shows a 215 bp fragment representing retrocyclin cDNA construct and a 890 bp fragment of native retrocyclin gene in the genomic DNA of A1A3 clones but not in the Vector control (VC) cells. (B, C) Correction of the premature termination codon of retrocyclin cDNA introduces an additional HpyCH4V restriction site the middle of a 87 bp cDNA fragment. RNA isolated from HL60 cells (control, R1R3 clones 1 & 2 and A1A3 clones 1 & 2) was used to make cDNA. Retrocyclin constructs were amplified by PCR using the cDNA as template and digested using HpyCH4V restriction enzyme. Electrophoresis of the digested PCR products shows the expected 87 bp fragment in control cells (B) and the expected absence of 87 bp fragment in R1R3 and A1A3 clones (C). All the products were also verified by DNA sequencing.

## 2.3.2 Extracts of promyelocytic cells stably transfected with retrocyclin constructs are active against HIV-1

We next analyzed if correcting the termination codon in the retrocyclin constructs could restore the translation of biologically active retrocyclin peptides. The infection of TZM-bl cells with HIV-1 BaL was significantly reduced when cells were treated with cellular acid extracts of R1R3 cells (P < 0.004) and A1A3 cells (P < 0.002) (Figure 2.3A). A standard tetrazolium MTT assay revealed that the extracts did not affect cellular metabolism at the concentrations used in the experiment (Figure 2.3E). Addition of A1A3 cell extracts to HIV-1 infected PM1 cells (Figure 2.3B) and PBMCs (Figure 2.3C) showed significant (P < 0.002 and P < 0.004 respectively) decrease in the viral titer as compared to cells treated with control HL60 cell extract. A trypan blue exclusion assay was performed in PBMCs to monitor cell viability (Figure 2.3F). We next affinity purified R1R3 and A1A3 cell extracts using anti-RC-101 antibody and confirmed the antiviral activity in a luciferase-based assay system (Figure 2.3D). Interestingly, A1A3 cell extracts were found to be consistently more active than equivalent amounts of R1R3 cell extract, which suggests a role for the downstream residues in retrocyclin processing. These results indicate that biologically active recombinant retrocyclin peptides can be synthesized in human promyelocytic cells. As a next step we tested the presence of retrocyclin in promyelocytic cells using immunostaining.



**Figure 2.3: Extracts from HL60 cells stably transfected with retrocyclin constructs are active against HIV-1 infection.** (A) TZM-bl cells were treated with extracts or peptide as indicated in the figure and infected with HIV-1 BaL (6.5 ng/ml p24) for 24 hr. Infection was measured as percent luciferase activity compared to cells treated with control cell extract (Average RLU of control HL60 extract = 178,200). (B, C) PM1 cells and PBMCs were treated with extracts or peptide as indicated and infected with HIV-1 BaL (2 ng/ml p24) and cultured for 5-9 days. Bars represent percent BaL HIV-1 levels in the supernatants collected on days 5 (B) and 9 (C). The amount of p24 in PM1 cells treated with control extract = 76.85 ng/ml and in PBMCs treated with control extracts = 55.99 ng/ml. (D) TZM-bl cells were treated with immunopurified (IP) extracts or peptides as indicated and infected with BaL HIV-1 (p24 = 2 ng/ml) for 24 hr. Infection was quantified as percent luciferase activity compared to cells treated with control HL60 cell IP extracts (Average RLU = 764,460). Error bars represent SEM. n = 3-4, # P < 0.004, \* P < 0.002, \*\* P < 0.0005. (E) Cellular viability of TZM-bl cells treated with HL60 acid extracts as indicated was determined by measuring the reduction of MTT after 24h (n = 3). Bars represent percent viability as compared to vehicle control and error bars represent SEM. (F) Cell death was monitored in PBMCs treated with the acid extracts by a trypan blue exclusion assay on day 9 (n = 1).

## 2.3.3 Immunofluorescence staining of stably transfected HL60 cells reveals retrocyclin peptides

Immuno-dotblot analyses revealed that our anti-RC-101 antibody specifically recognized lysinecontaining human retrocyclin analogs (synthetic RC-101 and RC-101\_2K) and RC-100 (i.e. wild type form) to a lesser extent (Figure 2.4A) but not human neutrophil peptides 1-3, or peptides with very similar tertiary structure including rhesus theta defensin-1 (RTD-1) and protegrin-1 (PG-1) (Figure 2.4B). This antibody was used to visualize the expressed retrocyclin peptides in the stably transfected HL60 cells by immunofluorescence staining, which revealed that R1R3 cells and A1A3 cells were brightly stained as compared to Vector Control (VC) cells (Figure 2.4C). Slides treated with pre-immune serum showed no staining (data not shown). Note that the staining of A1A3 was brighter than R1R3 and the morphology of A1A3 cells was smaller than VC cells. Experiments were next designed to purify and confirm the identity of the expressed retrocyclin peptides from the cell extracts.



## Figure 2.4: Immunofluorescence staining of stably transfected HL60 cells reveals retrocyclin

**peptides.** (A) Retrocyclin peptides RC-100, RC-101 and RC-101\_2K peptides (in duplicates) and (B) RC-100, RC-100b, RC-101, protegrin-1 (PG-1), rhesus theta defensin –1 (RTD-1), and human neutrophil peptides 1-3 (HNP 1-3) were dotted (0-8 ng / 4 1 dot) on a PVDF membrane and subjected to immuno-dotblot analysis. (C) Vector control, R1R3 and A1A3 (100,000 cells each) were fixed onto glass slides and incubated with rabbit anti-RC-101 antibody

followed by biotinylated goat anti-rabbit IgG secondary antibody and then stained using FITC-avidin. Slides were visualized using Zeiss Axiovert 200M microscope system at 40 X magnification. The three rows show FITC staining, DIC and the merged image respectively. Scale bar represents 20 m.

#### 2.3.4 Stably transfected promyelocytic cells produce retrocyclin peptides

Reverse-phase HPLC (RP-HPLC) was utilized to purify the recombinant retrocyclin peptides from stably transfected HL60 cell extracts. **Figure 2.5A** shows the RP-HPLC trace of A1A3 and synthetic RC-101. Synthetic RC-101 was recovered in fractions collected at 26-28 min. A1A3 HPLC Fractions collected from 23-30 minutes were analyzed on a 16% Tricine-SDS-gel. Control samples did not contain any protein bands at the expected size while fractions from R1R3 cell extracts revealed protein bands of about 6 kDa size (data not shown). Interestingly, A1A3 HPLC fractions revealed multiple protein bands, which we further analyzed by western blot (**Figure 2.5B**). The western blot analysis revealed bands at sizes corresponding to a monomer, dimer and trimer of retrocyclin. Interestingly, the presence of multimeric forms of retrocyclin has been independently observed by Daly and colleagues [175]. Furthermore, the RP-HPLC purified A1A3 fractions inhibited entry of HIV-1 BaL in TZM-bl cells (**Figure 2.5C**). The IC<sub>50</sub> of retrocyclin peptides expressed by A1A3 cells (2  $\mu$ g/ml) was similar to that of synthetic RC-101 (1.25  $\mu$ g/ml) [143].



**Figure 2.5: Stably transfected promyelocytic cells produce retrocyclin.** (A) Shows the RP-HPLC trace of A1A3 cell extract (from 108 cells) and 50 g of synthetic RC-101. (B) Western blot of A1A3 HPLC fractions (23-28 min) using rabbit anti-RC-101 antibody. The arrows indicate the multimeric forms of retrocyclin observed in A1A3 fractions. (C) TZM-bl cells were infected with HIV-1 (p24 = 2 ng/ml) in the presence or absence of pooled A1A3 fractions (final dilution 1:6 in D10) or 2 g/ml of RC-101 for 24 hr. Infection was quantified by luciferase measurement (Average RLU of Vehicle control with virus = 85,450). Error bar represents SEM and n = 3-6, \* P < 0.0015 \*\* P < 0.0001. MALDI-TOF MS spectra of Lys-C digested (D) synthetic RC-101\_2K, (E) synthetic RC-101 and (F) A1A3 HPLC fraction 26 reveal that A1A3 cells produce RC-101.

To determine the identity of the retrocyclin peptide expressed by A1A3 cells, HPLC fraction 26 was analyzed by mass spectrometric analysis (MALDI-TOF-MS) at the Microchemical and Proteomics Facility, Emory University. Analysis of A1A3 Fraction 26 revealed peaks with masses 1889.775 Da (oxidized) and 1895.890 Da (reduced), which is nearly identical to the expected mass of synthetic cyclic RC-101 (1889.85 Da and 1895.96 Da respectively; data not shown) and is in

agreement with reduction of the three disulfide bridges in the molecule. Furthermore, treatment with iodoacetamide yielded mass species of 2238.081 Da for the A1A3 fraction 26 and 2238.071 Da for RC-101 corresponding to the predicted 6-fold-alkylated form of RC-101 (expected mass = 2238.097 Da). Comparison of spectrum of the Lys-C digest of reduced/alkylated synthetic RC-101\_2K (peak at 1123.577 Da; peptide cleaved at two Lys-Gly bonds; **Figure 2.5D**), synthetic RC-101 (peak at 2256.097 Da; peptide cleaved at a single Lys-Gly bond; N-terminal sequence determined as: Gly-IIe-Cys-Arg-; **Figure 2.5E**) and A1A3 fraction 26 (peak at 2256.010 Da) suggests that the A1A3 cells are expressing RC-101 (**Figure 2.5F**). These data confirmed that correctly folded mature retrocyclin peptides can be expressed by human cells. In the following experiments we explored alternative methods to express the peptide endogenously. Of particular interest was the effect of aminoglycosides in mediating varying degrees of termination codon read-through as previously described [151,153-155,163-165].

## **2.3.5 Aminoglycosides mediate read-through of termination codon of retrocyclin gene and restore anti-HIV-1 activity**

We tested the ability of three commonly used aminoglycosides (gentamicin, amikacin, and tobramycin) to induce termination codon read-through of retrocyclin cDNA. The native retrocyclin gene was fused with a luciferase reporter at the C-terminus to create 2 constructs: unrescued RC-101 and rescued RC-101 (positive control) as shown in **Figure 2.6A.** These constructs were transfected into HOS-CD4-CCR5 cells, grown in the presence of varying concentrations of aminoglycosides, and the degree of read-through quantified by measuring luciferase. Application of tobramycin (10 g/ml) was the most effective, producing a 26-fold increase in read-through (P < 0.0007; **Figure 2.6B**).

Having thus established the optimal aminoglycoside concentration required to achieve readthrough of retrocylin cDNA, we next determined if aminoglycosides could restore the translation and anti-HIV-1 activity of native retrocyclin peptides. HeLa-derived cells lines such as TZM-bl cells can natively express retrocyclin mRNA (data not shown). We applied aminoglycosides to TZM-bl cells and challenged them with HIV-1 BaL. We found that cells treated with gentamicin and tobramycin significantly (P < 0.0005 and P < 0.0001 respectively) inhibited HIV-1 infection as compared to untreated cells (**Figure 2.6C**). The effect was modest when compared to inhibition by synthetic peptides. Cell viability, determined by a tetrazolium based MTT assay, was not affected by the application of aminoglycosides at the mentioned concentrations (**Figure 2.6E**).



Figure 2.6: Aminoglycosides mediate read-through of the premature termination codon within the retrocyclin gene and promote anti-HIV-1 activity. (A) Shows a schematic representation

of the luciferase fusion constructs unrescued RC-101 and rescued RC-101 along with native retrocyclin cDNA. (B) HOS-CD4-CCR5 cells cultured in antibiotic free medium (D10) were transfected with unrescued RC-101 (negative control) or rescued RC-101 (positive control) plasmids along with phRL-CMV vector (transfection control). The next day transfected cells were treated with PBS for control cells or aminoglycosides at the indicated concentrations and allowed to grow for 24 hr. Read-through was determined by measuring luciferase levels. Data is expressed as fold increase in luciferase expression normalized to renilla levels. (C) TZM-bl cells grown in D10<sup>-</sup> were treated for 30 min with PBS, RC-101 (2.5 g/ml), RC-100 (2.5 g/ml) or aminoglycosides as shown in the figure and infected with HIV-1 BaL (2 ng/ml p24) for 24 hr followed by luciferase measurement. Error bars represent SEM.  $n = 3-6, \# P < 0.007 * 10^{-1}$ P < 0.0005 \*\* P < 0.0001. (D) TZM-bl cells cultured on cover slips were treated with PBS (Con) or 10  $\mu$ g/ml tobramycin (Tob) and then immunostained with rabbit pre-immune or anti-retrocyclin serum using a biotinylated secondary antibody FITC-avidin system. (E) Cellular cytotoxicity was assessed by performing an MTT assay on TZM-bl cells treated with indicated amount of peptide or aminoglycosides (n = 3). Bars represent percent metabolic inhibition as compared to control (vehicle + virus). (F) TZM-bl cells, treated with either PBS, tobramycin (10 µg/ml) or RC-100 (2.5 µg/ml), were incubated with preimmune serum or anti-retrocyclin serum as indicated and infected with HIV-1 (p24 of 5 ng/ml). Data is represented as percent infection. Error bars represent SEM. n = 3, + P < 0.018Statistical significance was determined by two-tailed Student t-test.

In order to visualize the retrocyclins expressed by application of aminoglycosides, we performed immunostaining. TZM-bl cells were treated with PBS control or  $10 \,\mu$ g/ml tobramycin and stained with anti-retrocyclin antibody or pre-immune serum. Control cells showed no staining while cells treated with tobramycin revealed brightly stained cells suggesting that aminoglycosides can induce the expression of retrocyclin peptides (**Figure 2.6D**).

We next incubated TZM-bl cells with tobramycin (10  $\mu$ g/ml) for 24 hr, and then treated the cells with preimmune or anti-retrocyclin serum followed by infection with HIV-1. Figure 2.6F reveals

that cells treated with preimmune serum showed a modest yet significant reduction in infection as compared to cells treated with anti-retrocyclin antibodies (P < 0.018), suggesting that the antibody inhibited the endogenous retrocyclins. These data confirm that the anti-HIV-1 activity observed is due to the endogenous retrocyclin peptides expressed when tobramycin was applied to cells.

## 2.3.6 Aminoglycosides induce production of retrocyclin peptides in cervicovaginal tissues

We next analyzed the ability of aminoglycosides to induce the expression of retrocyclin peptides in an organotypic model cervicovaginal tissue. Tissues were treated apically with tobramycin or control (PBS) for 24 hr and anti-retrocyclin immunohistochemical analysis was performed. Interestingly, tissues treated with tobramycin alone and stained with anti-retrocyclin antibody revealed brightly stained cells (**Figure 2.7A**) suggesting that production of retrocyclin peptides is induced upon application of aminoglycosides. Lactate Dehydrogenase (LDH) activity in the medium underlying the tissues was performed to determine tissue cytotoxicity. The LDH assay revealed that application of 10  $\mu$ g/ml tobramycin was not cytotoxic to the tissues (**Figure 2.7B**). In addition, treatment of tobramycin did not affect the metabolic activity adversely, which was determined by an MTT assay performed on one tissue (data not shown).

In order to purify endogenous retrocyclins expressed in the tissues, we utilized reverse- phase HPLC. **Figure 2.7C** shows an HPLC trace of control, tobramycin-treated tissue extracts as compared to synthetic RC-100 peptide. Synthetic RC-100 peptide was recovered in fractions collected at 27-29. Corresponding fractions from control and tobramycin-treated tissues were analyzed by immuno-dotblot analysis using the anti-RC-101 antibody. **Figure 2.7D** shows that

retrocyclin peptides were recovered in fractions 27-29 min in tobramycin-treated tissue samples but not in control tissue samples. The amount of retrocyclin (RC-100) expressed in tobramycintreated cervicovaginal tissues was estimated by densitometry to be approximately 1.6 µg/tissue. Together these studies show that aminoglycosides are promising molecules to suppress the premature termination codon of retrocyclin transcripts and restore the ability of cervicovaginal tissues to protect cells from HIV-1.



**Figure 2.7: Expression of retrocyclins in cervicovaginal tissue model using aminoglycosides.** (A) Cervicovaginal tissues were treated with PBS (Con) or 10 µl tobramycin (Tob) and incubated with rabbit preimmune serum or anti-retrocyclin antibody. The slides were then incubated with biotinylated goat anti-rabbit IgG

secondary antibody and then stained using FITC-avidin. B) Cytotoxicity was determined by measuring Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity in media underlying the tissues treated with PBS or tobramycin as indicated. Bars represent absorbance measured as 490 nm and error bars represent SEM; n = 6. (C) HPLC trace of extracts of tissues treated with 10 µg/ml tobramycin (Tissue + Tob) and 20 µg of synthetic RC-100. (D) RC-100 synthetic peptide (indicated amounts), HPLC fractions 27-29 of control, tobramycin-treated and RC-100 were dotted on a PVDF membrane and analyzed by immuno-dotblot.

#### 2.4 Conclusion

Identifying effective drugs to prevent HIV-1 infection and other viral infections is essential for countering the spread of these diseases. Exogenous (synthetic) retrocyclins exhibit full activity in the complex environment of vaginal fluid and the peptide is very well tolerated in organotypic human cervicovaginal tissue models [162]. Moreover, HIV-1 evolves little resistance during continued passaging in the presence of the peptide [147]. For these and other reasons, retrocyclins have emerged as potential topical microbicides to protect against sexually- transmitted HIV-1 infections.

In this study we have taken a different path towards developing  $\theta$ -defensin therapeutics. The human pseudogenes that encode the demidefensin precursors whose post-translational processing gives rise to mature retrocyclin are expressed at the mRNA level in multiple organs, including the spleen, bone marrow, thymus, testis and skeletal muscle [134] and cervicovaginal epithelia (A.M.C., unpublished data). By transfecting human myeloid cells with plasmids containing retrocyclin genes without a premature termination codon, we demonstrated that the "machinery" needed to process, trim, splice and oxidize retrocyclin precursors was available in human myeloid cells. Two sets of expression constructs were transfected into cells: a shorter form (R1R3) that

terminates at the end of the retrocyclin gene and a longer form that contains (A1A3) additional 3' untranslated residues (UTR). Interestingly, A1A3 cells expressed higher levels of retrocyclin peptides as compared to R1R3 cells indicating a role for additional residues in the translational efficiency of these peptides. This was not altogether surprising as other studies have shown that the length of the 3'-UTR regulates translation efficiency [174,176]. Finally, we showed that aminoglycoside-treated cells and cervicovaginal tissues could produce retrocyclins endogenously by suppressing the premature termination codon in their endogenous mRNA transcript.

Since approximately 30% of inherited disorders may result from premature termination codon mutations, there has been tremendous interest and some progress in developing and applying agents that can read-through premature UAA, UAG or UGA termination codons [155]. Although aminoglycosides, as used in this study, have been most widely investigated, exciting new agents such as PTC-124, have also appeared [177,178]. In a sense, human retrocyclin-deficiency is also an inherited disorder, albeit one with an incidence of 100%. It is caused by a premature termination codon mutation that occurred after human lineage diverged from the lineage we share with orangutans, lesser apes and old world monkeys. Since HIV-1 and other viruses that currently infect humans have evolved in the absence of selective pressure exerted by retrocyclins, the ability to reawaken this ancestral molecule could be used to strengthen the innate immune system's ability to prevent or limit the infections they now induce.

## CHAPTER THREE: CATIONIC POLYPEPTIDES ARE REQUIRED FOR ANTI-HIV-1 ACTIVITY OF HUMAN VAGINAL FLUID

## **3.1 Introduction**

Approximately 40 million people have been infected with HIV-1 worldwide according to the 2004 World Health Organization estimates [179]. There has been a dramatic increase in the global spread of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) especially via the heterosexual mode of transmission [179,180]. At present, nearly 60% of infected individuals are women [181,182]. The natural sexual transmission of HIV occurs through mucosal surfaces such as vaginal or rectal mucosa [183]. Vaginal and rectal subepithelial stromal tissues are densely populated with dendritic cells (DC), macrophages and T-cells that express both CD4 and the HIV-1 co-receptors, CXCR4 and CCR5 [4,184]. Mechanisms whereby HIV-1 journeys across the mucosal epithelia are not completely understood, but may directly involve the epithelial cells [185]. Once the virus reaches the lamina propria, it can either directly infect macrophages or T lymphocytes or adhere to (or infect) dendritic cells, whose traffic to the regional lymph nodes converts them into sites of vigorous viral replication [186,187]. Whereas considerable attention in immunopathogenetic research on HIV-1 has been focused on acquired immunity, only recently has the role of innate immunity surfaced.

A layer of mucosal fluid covers the vaginal epithelium, and is composed of secretions from the cervical vestibular glands, plasma transudate, endometrial and oviductal fluids [188,189]. The fluid covering the vaginal mucosa protects against entry of pathogens into deeper tissues, including periodic sloughing of mucus and underlying cells to remove adherent microbes. The vagina is a host for numerous commensal microorganisms, which release organic acids and antimicrobial peptides to kill pathogenic invaders [112,190]. The vaginal epithelial cells, cervical glands, and

neutrophils contribute antimicrobial peptides to the milieu of the vaginal fluid, including lysozyme, lactoferrin, secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor (SLPI), human neutrophil peptides (HNP-1, -2 and -3) and human  $\beta$ -defensins (HBDs) [111]. We hypothesized that the sum total of these and likely other antimicrobial peptides and proteins contribute to the innate host defense of the vagina.

To date, evidence for the role of antimicrobial polypeptides in vaginal anti-HIV-1 host defense has been largely circumstantial. Lysozyme and lactoferrin have been shown to inhibit the infection by HIV-1 in vitro by preventing the adsorption and penetration of the virus [113,191-193]. Human β-defensins have been shown to inhibit HIV-1 replication [131] through modulation of the CXCR4 coreceptor as well by interacting directly with the virions. Several reports have shown that the level of SLPI is reduced in vaginal fluid of HIV infected persons [117,194]. SLPI has been shown to block HIV-1 infection in monocytes and T-cells by preventing the internalization of the virus prior to reverse transcription [115,117]. However, the action of SLPI is still debatable since other reports suggest that SLPI by itself has no effect on HIV-1 replication [118]. HNP-1-3 inhibit HIV-1 replication in vitro by two mechanisms: in the absence of serum they inhibit HIV-1 replication prior to integration of the virus in CD4+ T cells and in the presence of serum they interfere with the signaling pathways on target cells and block the nuclear import and transcription of HIV-1 genome [128,129,195].

In the current report, we explored the biological role of cationic antimicrobial polypeptides in protecting the vaginal mucosa from infection by HIV-1. We revealed that the cationic proteins in human vaginal fluid inhibited the entry of HIV-1 in human epithelial cell lines and organotypic

cervicovaginal tissues. We utilized a proteomic approach to identify 18 different cationic polypeptides in vaginal fluid, most of which have been previously reported to exhibit antimicrobial properties. While individual polypeptides at physiological concentration did not exhibit antiviral activity against HIV-1 infection, a combination of the peptides partially restored the antiviral activity. Selective depletion of cationic polypeptides from whole vaginal fluid reduced the intrinsic anti-HIV-1 activity. Most importantly, anti-HIV-1 activity of depleted fluid was restored upon repletion with the cationic polypeptide extract. Collectively, these studies suggest that the intrinsic anti-HIV-1 activity of vaginal fluid is an aggregate effect of all its active cationic polypeptide components.

#### **3.2 Materials and methods**

## 3.2.1 Reagents

Human neutrophil lysozyme and human milk lactoferrin were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, (St. Louis, MO). Recombinant calgranulin A (S100A8) and calgranulin B (S100A9) were purchased from Abnova Corp. (Taipei, Taiwan). Recombinant Cystatin B and SLPI were purchased from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN). Histone H2A was purchased from Upstate USA Inc. (Charlottesville, VA). Cathepsin G was purchased from Bachem Bioscience Inc. (King of Prussia, PA). Recombinant  $\beta$ -defensins, HBD-1 and -2, were generous gifts from Dr. Tomas Ganz (David Geffen School of Medicine, UCLA, CA). The  $\alpha$ -defensins, HNP-1, -2 and -3, were purified from human leukocytes and were generous gifts from Dr. Ganz and Dr. Robert I. Lehrer (David Geffen School of Medicine).

#### 3.2.2 Collection and processing of vaginal fluid

Vaginal fluid was collected from post-menarcheal but pre-menopausal healthy female donors after informed consent as per the guidelines of the Institutional Review Board of University of Central Florida. Donors with current or recent vaginal infections and those under antibiotic treatment for any reason were excluded from the study using a questionnaire. To collect undiluted vaginal fluid, an Instead SoftCup (Ultrafem, Inc., La Jolla, CA) was inserted into the vagina as per the manufacturer's instructions, and removed after 30 min. The SoftCup was then centrifuged for 10 min at  $1000 \times g$  in a 50 ml sterile conical tube to collect the fluid sample [196]. Retrieved samples were then homogenized by sonication on ice using a microtip ultrasound probe (ten 2-3 sec pulses). These "minimally manipulated" whole vaginal fluid samples stored in aliquots at -20°C. This method enabled us to collect approximately 200 µl to 1 ml of vaginal fluid per collection. For most antiviral cell culture assays, the vaginal fluid was not manipulated further. For antiviral cell culture assays the vaginal fluids were extracted with 5% acetic acid for 2 hrs with gentle agitation, and the clarified supernatant was vacuum-dried and resuspended to the original volume in 100 mM sodium phosphate pH 7.4. To prepare the samples for two-dimensional proteomic analyses, the undiluted vaginal fluids were extracted using 5% acetic acid, vacuum dried, and resuspended in 0.1% hexadecyl trimethyl ammonium bromide (CETAB)/10% acetic acid/ 3× acid urea loading dye (9M urea, 5% acetic acid and methyl green).

## 3.2.3 Selective depletion of cationic polypeptides from vaginal fluid

Carboxymethyl weak cation-exchange resin (CM resin; Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) was used to deplete cationic polypeptides from vaginal fluid [197]. The CM resin was pre-equilibrated with

vaginal fluid buffer (VFB) (60 mM NaCl and 20 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>; pH 6), which has been reported to be similar in electrolyte composition to vaginal fluid [111]. The CM resin was washed with VFB and centrifuged at 10,000 × g for 10 min and the overlying VFB was removed. Equal volumes of vaginal fluid from 10-23 donors was pooled, added to an equal bed volume of CM resin preequilibrated with VFB, and incubated overnight at 4 °C with gentle agitation. The CM resin was sedimented by centrifugation (16,000 × g, 5 min) and the cationic polypeptide-depleted supernatant was collected (hereunto termed "CM-depleted vaginal fluid"). The cationic polypeptides bound to the CM resin were extracted in subsequent 2 hr and 24 hr extractions using 5 resin volumes of 5% acetic acid at 4°C. The extracts were, pooled, vacuum-dried and resuspended to the original volume of vaginal fluid.

#### 3.2.4 Cell lines and viruses

PM1, TZM-bl and H9 cells were obtained from the NIH AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program. TZM-bl cells are a HeLa-derived cell line that stably expresses CD4 and CCR5 and contains the luciferase gene under the control of the HIV-1 promoter [170]. TZM-bl cells were grown in high glucose Dulbecco Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (Mediatech, Herndon, VA) supplemented with 100 U/ml penicillin, 100  $\mu$ g/ml of streptomycin and 10% FBS. Passages 5-15 were used for experiments, and no change in cell behavior was observed between passages. PM1 cells were maintained at a density of 0.4- 0.8 × 10<sup>6</sup> /ml in RPMI1640 supplemented with 100 U/ml penicillin, 100  $\mu$ g/ml streptomycin, 100 mM HEPES and 20% FBS (Gemini Bio-Products, Woodland, CA). H9 cells were cultured in the same manner as PM1 cells except 10% FBS was used. The HIV-1 laboratory strains BaL (R5) and IIIB (X4) were obtained from the NIH AIDS Research and Reference Reagent Program. HIV-1 BaL was propagated in PM1 cells over 16 days. Supernatants containing virus were collected every other day starting 5 days post-infection, passed through a 0.45 m filter, and stored in aliquots at -80°C. HIV-1 IIIB was propagated similarly using H9 cells. Virus was quantitated by a sensitive commercial ELISA for p24<sup>gag</sup> (PerkinElmer, Boston, MA).

## 3.2.5 Assays to determine anti-HIV-1 activity of vaginal fluid and cationic polypeptides

TZM-bl cells were seeded in 96-well dishes (4000 cells/well). After 24 hours, cells were treated in triplicate with 50 µl culture medium containing whole vaginal fluid, CM-depleted vaginal fluid, peptides recovered from CM resin, vehicle control (100 mM sodium phosphate pH 7.4), individual recombinant or purified peptides at physiological concentration (**Table II**), or combinations thereof. Culture media, or virus diluted in culture media (2 ng/ml p24 for BaL and 5 ng/ml p24 for IIIB), in 50 µl was immediately added to each well, and allowed to incubate at 37 °C/ 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 24 hrs. Subsequently, luciferase activity was measured with Bright-Glo reagents (Promega, Madison, WI) according to manufacturer's instructions using an LMax luminometer (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA). Cytotoxicity and the metabolic activity of the cells were verified by a tetrazolium-based (MTT) assay as per the manufacturer's instructions (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN).

## 3.2.6 Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis of vaginal fluid

Acid-extracted vaginal fluid samples were electrophoresed on a 12.5% native acid ureapolyacrylamide gel (AU-PAGE) in the first dimension at 75V for 16-18 hr [197,198]. The gel was then stained with  $0.1 \times$  amido black (0.04% napthol blue-black, 2.5% isopropanol and 1% acetic acid) to visualize the protein bands. The entire lane of the first dimension AU-gel was excised, washed twice for 5 min each in dH<sub>2</sub>O followed by two 5 min washes with 50 mM Tris pH 8.8, and soaked for 10 min in equilibration buffer (50 mM Tris, 6M Urea, 2% SDS, 20% glycerol, and bromophenol blue *ad libitum*, pH 8.8) containing 10 mg/ml DTT. The gel strips were electrophoresed in a 16% Tricine–SDS-PAGE as the second dimension for 20 hr at 40 mA [199]. Protein spots were visualized by SYPRO Ruby gel stain (Bio-Rad), excised, and stored at 4°C in 1% acetic acid until analyzed by mass spectrometry.

### 3.2.7 Identification of cationic polypeptides of vaginal fluid

The proteins were then subjected to trypsin digestion and mass spectrometric analysis (MALDI-TOF-MS/MS analysis [200] at the Microchemical and Proteomics facility at Emory University, GA as described earlier [201,202]. GPS Explorer 2.0 software (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) and a MASCOT (<u>http://www.matrixscience.com/</u>) search engine were used for identification of peptide fragments. The NCBI non-redundant database and the *Mammalia* taxonomy were used for the searches.

## 3.2.8 Human Cervicovaginal Tissue Model

Organotypic "EpiVaginal" cultures of normal human vaginal-ectocervical epithelial cells and immuno-competent dendritic cells were propagated as suggested by MatTek Corporation (Ashland, MA). Each 60 mm<sup>2</sup> tissue adhered tightly atop a microporous membrane insert, and was maintained at the air-liquid interface using 5 ml of maintenance medium (MatTek). Tissues (3 per treatment condition) were pre-treated in with 50 l phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) or 50 l

vaginal fluid diluted 1:1 with PBS for 30 min and then rinsed twice with warm PBS. Tissues were then topically applied with either 100 1 of PBS (control), PBS containing 25 ng p24 of HIV-1 BaL, or PBS containing BaL and vaginal fluid (equivalent to 50% of whole fluid), for 24 hr. Treatments were then removed and tissues were washed with 100 1 warm PBS, then vaginal fluid (50%) or PBS vehicle were re-applied in 50 1. A one-time dose of  $1 \times 10^{6}$  HIV-1 BaL-infected PM1 promyelocytic cells were included underneath the microporous insert to sustain the initial HIV-1 infection, and were removed after 2 days. Basal maintenance media was changed every other day, and the topical (apical) treatments were removed and re-applied on days 3 and 6 post-infection. On day 9 post-infection, DNA was extracted from 2 tissues per treatment condition using Qiagen's DNA Micro kit. Total protein was extracted from the third tissue per treatment condition and assayed by ELISA for HIV-1 p24<sup>gag</sup> (PerkinElmer).

### 3.2.9 Detection of HIV-1 provirus in human cervicovaginal tissue

HIV-1 infection of cervicovaginal tissues was assessed by real-time PCR quantitation of the HIV-1 BaL env gene (relative to β-actin controls) in total tissue DNA isolated 9 days post-infection. HIV-AACACCTCAGTCATTACAC 1 BaL primers used were: 5'--3' and 5'-TACATTGCTCTTCCTACTTC -3', which amplify a 700 bp region of BaL gp120. β-actin primers used were: 5'- CCTTCCAGCAGATGTG -3' and 5'- GGTGTAACGCA ACTAAG -3', which amplify a 105 bp region of human  $\beta$ -actin. 200 ng DNA was mixed with 2× Sybr Green supermix (Bio-Rad), 200 nM each primer, and dH<sub>2</sub>O. Triplicate 20 µl reactions were carried out using the MyiQ real-time PCR detection system (Bio-Rad), and HIV-1 BaL levels were normalized to β-actin. Data was analyzed with iCycler iQ Optical System software. Melt-curve analysis and gel electrophoresis revealed that single PCR products were amplified for each gene. Moreover, the *env* PCR product was verified by sub-cloning into pCR4-TOPO (Invitrogen), followed by DNA sequence analysis (Biomolecular Sciences Genomics Core Laboratory, UCF, Orlando FL).

#### 3.2.10 Statistics

Luciferase assays were performed in triplicate for each treatment condition in each experiment, with relative light units in vehicle-only control wells set as 100% infection. Each treatment condition was analyzed by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey pairwise comparison. Mass spectrometric analysis for each polypeptide identified was performed in duplicate, and protein spots with a confidence index (C.I %) greater than 85 percentile, combined with ion scores of  $\geq$ 40 for one or more peptides matched to each protein, were considered positively identified [200].

#### 3.3 Results

## 3.3.1 Human vaginal fluid is intrinsically active against HIV-1.

The mucosal layer lining the vaginal epithelial cells is rich in antimicrobial polypeptides that provide a crucial barrier against invading microbial and viral pathogens [111,190]. Although some of these polypeptides have been shown to exhibit antiviral properties [115,129,160,193,203,204], detailed analysis of the intrinsic anti-HIV-1 activity of vaginal fluid has not been reported. Herein, we explored the activity of the cationic polypeptide components of vaginal fluid against HIV-1. TZM-bl cells were treated with either PBS (vehicle control) or vaginal fluid diluted in DMEM high glucose medium with 10% FBS and infected with both R5 (HIV-1 BaL; **Figure 3.1A**) and X4

(HIV-1 IIIB; **Figure 3.1B**) strains of HIV-1. After 24 hours, excess virus was removed and infection was quantitated as a measure of luciferase expression. As compared to vehicle-only controls, vaginal fluid extracts significantly reduced the infection of both viral strains in a dose dependant manner. As measured by a standard MTT tetrazolium assay, the vaginal fluid extracts were not cytotoxic (data not shown). These results indicate that human vaginal fluid intrinsically inhibits the entry of HIV-1 into host cells.



**Figure 3.1: Human Vaginal fluid intrinsically inhibits HIV-1 infection.** TZM-bl cells were treated with PBS (vehicle control) or vaginal fluid diluted in DMEM high glucose medium to a final concentration as indicated in the figure and were subsequently infected with (A) HIV-1 BaL (2 ng/ml p24) or (B) HIV-1 IIIB (5 ng/ml p24) for 24 hr. Infection was measured as a percent reduction in luciferase activity as compared to infected vehicle-only control (relative light units = RLU). Experiments were performed using 4 different pools of vaginal fluid each in triplicate. As compared with control, double asterisks indicates P <0.0002; a single asterisk indicates P <0.0005. Error bars represent SEM.

#### **3.3.2** Anti-HIV-1 activity resides in the cationic fraction of vaginal fluid.

Experiments were designed to selectively remove the cationic polypeptides from whole vaginal fluid to determine if this depletion reduced the anti-HIV-1 activity of the fluid. Whole, undiluted vaginal fluid was collected from healthy donors using an Instead SoftCup. A weak cation exchange resin, CM-Prep (Bio-Rad), was utilized to deplete the cationic peptides and proteins from vaginal fluid, whilst sparing the concentrations of remaining proteins and electrolytes. We pioneered this technique, and have characterized the selective depletion of cationic polypeptides from nasal fluid [197]. The activity of whole vaginal fluid extract, CM-depleted vaginal fluid, and the polypeptides extracted from the CM resin were tested individually against HIV-1 BaL (Figure 3.2A) and HIV-1 IIIB (Figure 3.2B) in TZM-bl cells for 24 hours. Cells treated with whole vaginal fluid showed significant reduction in infection as compared with PBS control (P < 0.0002; n = 13), while the CM-depleted fluid did not inhibit infection. Similar to whole vaginal fluid, polypeptides extracted from the CM resin exhibited significant anti-HIV-1 activity as compared with both the PBS control and CM-depleted vaginal fluid (P < 0.0002; n = 14). Taken together, these data indicate that the anti-HIV-1 activity of vaginal fluid is contained in the cationic fraction. Whole vaginal fluid, CM-depleted vaginal fluid, and the extracted cationic polypeptides were used in subsequent proteomic and reconstitution assays.



**Figure 3.2: Depletion of cationic proteins from vaginal fluid increases HIV-1 infection.** TZMbl cells were treated with vehicle control, whole vaginal fluid extract (Whole-VF), CM-depleted vaginal fluid (CMdepl-VF) or the recovered peptides from the CM-resin (CM-extract) and infected for 24 hrs with HIV-1 (A) BaL p24 = 2ng/ml (B) IIIB p24= 5ng/ml. Luciferase levels were measured and percent infection was calculated as in Figure 1. The results are from experiments performed with 4 different pools of vaginal fluid, each repeated thrice. Asterisk indicates P <0.0002.

## 3.3.3 Identification of cationic polypeptides of vaginal fluid.

We next utilized a novel proteomic technique to identify cationic polypeptide components in vaginal fluid. The cationic polypeptide fraction from whole, undiluted vaginal fluid was subjected to AU-PAGE (the first dimension of a two-dimensional gel), which separates polypeptides based on cationic charge density [198,205], A slice from the AU-PAGE was inserted into a Tricine-SDS-PAGE gel (the second dimension) to separate low molecular weight polypeptides by size <sup>69</sup>. Gels were stained with SYPRO Ruby (**Figure 3.3**) or silver (not shown). Spots representing single polypeptides were excised from the gel and the sequence was identified by tandem mass

spectrometry (MALDI-TOF/TOF). Each polypeptide spot was sequenced from samples excised from both silver stained and SYPRO Ruby stained gels.



**Figure 3.3: Identification of cationic polypeptides in vaginal fluid.** Whole vaginal fluid (10 µl) was subjected to first dimensional electrophoresis in an AU-PAGE followed by Tricine SDS PAGE as the second dimension. The SYPRO Ruby stained two-dimensional gel of whole vaginal fluid extract showing the protein spots identified by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometric analysis. Each polypeptide spot and their reported role in host defense are listed in Table I. Unlabeled arrows were identified as fragments of human albumin.

 Table 3.1 lists the corresponding protein spots labeled in Figure 3.3 and indicates how each spot

 was identified in this study as well as the previously reported biological activity for each identified

polypeptide. Spots with a confidence index (C.I.%) greater than 85% were considered positive. Note that several smaller fragments of albumin were also detected, which are indicated by unlabelled arrows. We also discovered two novel, unnamed polypeptide fragments (**Figure 3.3**, spot #5 and 19) in vaginal fluid. In total, we have positively identified 18 unique cationic polypeptides in vaginal fluid, of which many have reported roles in host defense against HIV-1 infection [113,115,129,131,206,207].

## <u>3.3.4 Comparison of proteomic profiles of whole and CM-depleted vaginal fluids reveals</u> <u>cationic polypeptides that contribute to anti-HIV-1 activity.</u>

Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis was next used to characterize the cationic polypeptides that remained in the vaginal fluid after CM depletion, as well as those that were extracted with the CM resin. Figure 3.4 compares 2-D gel electrophoretograms of whole vaginal fluid, CM-depleted vaginal fluid, and the polypeptides extracted from the resin. Among the polypeptides that were absent in CM-depleted fluid yet recovered from the resin include lysozyme, cystatin B, calgranulin B, histone H2A, HNP1-3, lipocalin-2 and cathepsin G (indicated by arrows in Figure 3.4A and 3.4C). Some components are reportedly active against HIV-1 (lysozyme and HNP1-3), while the anti-HIV-1 activities of the others have not been reported. We next explored which of the cationic polypeptide components of vaginal were the principal effectors active against HIV-1.



Figure 3.4: Comparison of proteomics profiles of whole vaginal fluid and Depleted vaginal

**fluid**. Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis of 10  $\mu$ l of (A) whole vaginal fluid, (B) CM-depleted vaginal fluid and (C) the extract of bound proteins from CM-resin was performed. The arrows in panels A and C indicate protein spots that were recovered in the polypeptide extract, and are listed in Table 3.4. The circles in panel B indicate the region where the corresponding cationic proteins in panel A are absent in depleted vaginal fluid.

	Spot ID	Accession #	MW (Da)	Score <sup>b</sup>	C.I.% <sup>c</sup>	Role in Host Defense
1	Albumin	gi 23241675	45130.4	90	100	Transport of metabolites, drugs and toxins, Transcytosis of myeloperoxidase [208].
2	Neutrophil Gelatinase Associated Lipocalin	gi 4261868	20534.5	51	100	Bacteriostatic, Sequesters Iron siderophores [209,210].
3	Chain A, Cathepsin-G	gi 20664220	26740.9	227	100	lymphocyte activator, Inflammation. [211,212].
4	Human Neutrophil Gelatinase Associated Lipocalin	gi 7767000	19976.3	41	100	Antibacterial, sequesters Iron siderophores[209,210].
5	Unnamed protein product	gi 14041892	23795.5	44	100	(Unknown).
6	Histone H2B	gi 184086	11324.1	55	99	Antibacterial [213-216].
7	H2A histone family	gi 4504251	14086.9	113	100	Antibacterial [213-216].
8	Fatty acid binding protein 5 E-FABP	gi 4557581	15154.5	196	100	Intracellular fatty acid trafficking, Stabilization of leukotrienes, Skin inflammation[217,218].
9	Human Galectin-7	gi 3891470	14934.8	71	100	S-lectin involved in cell-adhesion [219,220], migration immune response [221,222].
10	Lysozyme	gi 3660304	14599.2	100	100	Antibacterial and antiviral [191,197,223,224].
11	Lysozyme (dimer)	gi 14278473	14693.1	90	100	Artifact obtained after extraction from CM-resin [197].
12	Cystatin B-Human	gi 68783	11166.6	54	98	Cysteine proteinase inhibitor, immunomodulator, activates NO synthesis in macrophages [225 226]
13	Calgranulin B	gi 7417329	13102.5	88	89	Antibacterial [227,228]
14	Histone H2A family member	gi 10800144	13927.8	126	100	Antibacterial [213-216]
15	Histone H4	gi 223582	11230.3	127	100	Antibacterial [213-216]
16	<sup>d</sup> H2A histone family member	gi 18105045	13897.8	118	81	Antibacterial [213-216]
17	Cystatin A	gi 4885165	10999.7	120	100	Cysteine proteinase inhibitor, immunomodulator [226,228]
18	Calgranulin A	gi 29888	10930.8	197	100	Antibacterial [227,229]
19	Unnamed protein product	gi 14041892	23795.5	58	100	(Unknown)
20	Human Neutrophil peptide 3 HNP1-3	gi 229858	3489.6	63	99	Antimicrobial, [128,129,230-232]

Table 3.1: Cationic polypeptides identified in vaginal fluid by two-dimensional analysis and MALDI-TOF MS/MS analysis.

a The numbers correspond to the labeled spots in Figure 3.3

b Ion Score of one or more peptide fragments that match a protein in the database

c Confidence Index percentage

d Note that this spot has a C.I.% index of <85% but was considered positive because it was identified in multiple samples.

# <u>3.3.5 Individual cationic peptides and proteins at physiologic concentrations are not active against HIV-1.</u>

We tested the anti-HIV-1 activity of 13 cationic polypeptides that were either purified from natural						
sources or recombinant proteins. Table 3.2 lists the physiologic concentration of cationic						
polypeptides in vaginal fluid from healthy donors as identified in this study and in Valore et al.						
[111]. Each polypeptide was tested for anti-HIV-1 activity at its measured physiological						
concentration. TZM-bl cells were treated with individual polypeptides at the final concentrations						
given in Table 3.2, infected with HIV-1 BaL or HIV-1 IIIB, and at 24 hrs anti-HIV-1 activity was						
measured by quantifying luciferase expression. At physiological concentrations, none of the						
polypeptides alone inhibited viral entry (data not shown). These data suggest that the antiretroviral						
activity of vaginal fluid may be a result of two or more cationic antimicrobial polypeptides acting						
in synergy.						

 Table 3.2: Physiological concentration of cationic proteins that contribute to anti-HIV-1 activity of vaginal fluid.

Protein	Concentration (µg/ml)	Method of detection	Reference
Calprotectin <sup>ab</sup>	34±7	Semiquantitative Western blot and densitometry	[111,227,229]
Cystatin B <sup>a</sup>	32.16	Densitometry	This study
Lysozyme <sup>a</sup>	13±2	Semiquantitative Western blot and densitometry	[111,223]
Histone H2A <sup>a</sup>	11.04	Densitometry	This study
Cathepsin G <sup>a</sup>	10.88	Densitometry	This study
Lactoferrin	0.9±0.2	Semiquantitative Western blot and densitometry	[111,113,193]
SLPI	0.7±0.1	Semiquantitative Western blot and densitometry	[111,115,117]
HBD-2	0.57±0.13	Semiquantitative Western blot and densitometry	[111,131]
HNP-1-3 <sup>ac</sup>	0.35±0.07	Semiquantitative Western blot and densitometry	[111,128,206,233]
HBD-1	0.04±0.02	ELISA	[111,131]

a Represents the arrows indicated in Figure 3.4A and 3.4C

b Calprotectin, heterodimer of calgranulin A and calgranulin B was tested as individual peptides

c HNP-1, HNP-2 and HNP-3 were tested as individual polypeptides

#### **3.3.6** Cationic polypeptides of vaginal fluid synergize to inhibit HIV-1 infection.

The abundance of antimicrobial peptides in vaginal fluid with often overlapping roles in host defense suggests that the anti-HIV-1 activity is not a result of actions from individual peptides. Moreover, our studies also indicate that the individual polypeptides at physiological concentration do not prevent entry of HIV-1 into host cells. We therefore hypothesized that these polypeptides must act in concert to prevent the HIV-1 infection. To test our hypothesis, we prepared a cocktail of 13 available recombinant or natural peptides at physiological concentrations as shown in **Table 3.2**. TZM-bl cells were treated with either the polypeptide mix either alone or the polypeptide mix added to CM-depleted vaginal fluid, and were subsequently infected with HIV-1 (**Figure 3.5**). While the polypeptide mix alone reduced infectivity approximately 40%, this was not significant as compared with vehicle-only control. Moreover, the addition of the polypeptide mix to CM-depleted fluid was also not completely restorative. Due to availability, not every polypeptide identified was represented in the cocktail, which may have contributed to the incomplete restoration of CM-depleted fluid. This hypothesis is supported in our next experiment.

Interestingly, the cationic polypeptide extract (cleaved from the CM resin) was completely restorative to CM-depleted fluid (P = 0.00012; n = 14), and the combined anti-HIV-1 activity was equivalent to the activity of whole vaginal fluid (**Figure 3.5**). These data suggest that the anti-HIV-1 activity of vaginal fluid is primarily contained in the cationic fraction, and that the activity is complex and requires the collective polypeptides.



Figure 3.5: Cationic polypeptides of vaginal fluid synergize to inhibit HIV-1 infection. TZM-bl cells were treated as indicated in the figure and infected with BaL (p24 = 2ng/ml) for 24 hr. Luciferase was then measured as described earlier and percent infection was calculated. Asterisk indicates P < 0.00015. Experiments were performed in triplicate and error bars represent SEM.

#### 3.3.7 Vaginal fluid protects against HIV-1 infection of human cervicovaginal tissue.

We next tested whether vaginal fluid could protect organotypic human cervicovaginal tissues against HIV-1 infection. This ex vivo model closely resembles the native mucosae of the ectocervix and vagina, containing full-thickness epithelia composed of vaginal-ectocervical cells that are interspersed with immuno-competent dendritic (Langerhans) cells in the basal and suprabasal layers. To study the role of vaginal fluid in reducing HIV-1 infection and integration of the proviral DNA into the host genome, cervicovaginal tissues infected with HIV-1 BaL in the absence or presence of an apical film of vaginal fluid were compared. The tissues were treated with PBS (vehicle control) or vaginal fluid diluted 1:1 in PBS for 30 min prior to infection with HIV-1 BaL (p24 = 25 ng/tissue) diluted in PBS (control) or in 50% vaginal fluid. 24 hrs post infection, excess virus was removed and PBS control or 50% vaginal fluid was reapplied to the apical tissue surface. Total tissue DNA was extracted 9 days post infection and the proviral DNA levels were assessed by real-time quantitative PCR of the *env* gene of HIV-1 BaL. Compared to tissues topically infected with HIV-1 BaL alone, cervicovaginal tissues that were treated with vaginal fluid for 30 minutes prior to the addition of HIV-1 BaL had approximately 4-fold fewer copies of proviral DNA, although this trend was not statistically significant due to variability in the untreated condition (Figure 3.6A). However, viral titer as quantified by p24<sup>gag</sup> ELISA was significantly lower in cervicovaginal tissues treated with vaginal fluid as compared with control tissues (P = 0.0091; n = 2; Figure 3.6B). These studies imply that vaginal fluid plays an important role in preventing HIV-1 transmission in the cervicovaginal mucosa.



**Figure 3.6: Vaginal fluid inhibits HIV-1 infection of human vaginal tissues.** Human vaginal organotypic cultures were treated with PBS control or 50% vaginal fluid and infected with HIV-1 BaL. 9 days post infection tissues were harvested for DNA or protein analysis. (A) Realtime quantitative PCR of HIV-1 BaL proviral DNA corresponding to 700bp region of env gene was performed in BaL versus BaL + vaginal fluid (VF) infected tissues. (B) HIV-1 p24 protein levels in BaL versus BaL + VF infected tissues. Asterisk indicates P = 0.0091. Error bars represent SEM.

### 3.4 Discussion

The mechanisms by which the vaginal mucosa protects against sexually transmitted and other pathogenic infections are not completely understood. While several studies have focused on the adaptive immune system of mucosal surfaces of the female reproductive tract, scant attention has been focused on the innate immune factors in vaginal secretions [234-237]. Evidence is accumulating that vaginal epithelia are more than simple physical barriers to protect against
invading pathogens [111,238,239]. On the contrary, this surface and its overlying fluid are replete with antimicrobial polypeptides that act as effectors of innate host defense.

The current study provides evidence that cationic polypeptides contribute significantly to the intrinsic biological activity of vaginal fluid against HIV-1 infection. Proteomic analysis of the cationic polypeptide fraction of vaginal fluid revealed numerous cationic antimicrobial and host defense polypeptides. Polypeptides with known microbicidal effects that have been identified in our study and previously identified in mucosal secretions include lysozyme, lactoferrin, cathelicidin [240,241],  $\beta$ -defensins,  $\alpha$ -defensins and SLPI [111,238]. Although each of the above polypeptides reportedly prevented HIV-1 infection, their activities were realized only when assayed at supraphysiologic concentrations. In the current study we determined that, at physiological concentration, none of the cationic polypeptides tested individually was active against HIV-1. However, a cocktail of the peptides added back to CM-depleted vaginal fluid partially restored the activity. Partial (rather than complete) restoration of activity may be reflective of the following: 1) some of the recombinant proteins may not exhibit the same anti-HIV-1 activity as that of the purified or natural proteins in the secretions, 2) while we created the cocktail with individual polypeptides, the full activity of certain proteins (e.g. calgranulins A and B) may be best realized in their heterodimeric form, and 3) due to availability, several polypeptides that we identified could not be included in the polypeptide cocktail. Any or all of these conditions support the premise that the collective cationic polypeptide fraction is responsible for anti-HIV-1 activity of vaginal fluid. Indeed, when the extracted cationic polypeptide fraction (bound to the CM-resin) was used to reconstitute the CM-depleted fluid, anti-HIV-1 activity was restored Anti-HIV-1 activity of vaginal fluid is likely due to the collective cationic completely. polypeptides acting synergistically.

Whole vaginal fluid was collected from healthy donors using a diaphragm-like device (Instead SoftCup), which enabled the collection of whole *undiluted* cervicovaginal fluid [196]. In contrast, other commonly used methods of cervicovaginal fluid collection, such as extraction from preweighed tampons or vaginal lavage [111,242,243], can suffer from protein adhesion to the tampon or a dilute lavage of unknown protein concentration. Unlike lavage, the Instead SoftCup is convenient and can be self-inserted, thus women are more receptive to donating cervicovaginal fluid. While no one method of collection is perfect, approaches that enable the retrieval of whole, undiluted fluid may afford the best representation of the condition in vivo.

Lactic and other organic acids that result in the low pH of human vaginal fluid (normally pH 3.8-4.5), as well as volatile compounds such as  $H_2O_2$ , are thought to contribute to microbial host defense [112,190]. Our studies were designed to minimize or eliminate the effects of these factors, as the acidity of the vaginal fluid was neutralized (pH 7.4) prior to subjecting the fluid to anti-HIV-1 assays. Moreover, although the all of the anti-HIV-1 activity was contained in the collective polypeptide extract, the procedures required for extraction would inactivate or remove  $H_2O_2$  and other volatile compounds. Both whole vaginal fluid and the collective cationic polypeptide fraction were equally active against HIV-1, and thus the activity against HIV-1 was purportedly not a result of ancillary components of the cervicovaginal fluid.

Histones and their fragments were some of the more abundant polypeptides identified in vaginal fluid. Valore and colleagues identified histone H2B in the vaginal fluid of a healthy donor using a specific, yet quite insensitive, antibody [111]. Utilizing a more sensitive proteomic approach, we

identified histone fragments in every vaginal fluid sample tested. Histones have been shown to possess antibacterial properties and are released from activated neutrophils [213,214]. Why are histones present in mucosal secretions – do these proteins confer an active function, or are they just byproducts of cellular decay? Until recently, the latter was the most plausible explanation. However, a current study by Brinkmann and colleagues provided an alternative mechanism behind the presence of extracellular histones [214]. They reported that activated neutrophils release NETs (neutrophil extracellular traps), long elaborations of chromatin and neutrophil elastase that are independent of apoptosis or necrosis. NETs bound and inactivated both gram-positive and gramnegative bacteria, and prevented their dispersal. Moreover, NETs were abundant in experimental dysentery and in spontaneous human appendicitis. It is not known whether inflammatory cells in the cervicovaginal mucosa elaborate NETs and their associated histones as a host defense mechanism, or if histones are released simply as a result of cellular damage.

Other studies of vaginal fluid that specifically searched for the presence of  $\beta$ -defensins using sensitive antibodies were able to immunodetect low levels in vaginal fluid [244]. However, we did not uncover these peptides in our proteomic search, likely due to the scant concentration of these peptides and thus the low chance that they would be identified as a major spot on two-dimensional PAGE. While  $\beta$ -defensins have been shown to inhibit HIV-1 infection (50% inhibition at 20 µg/ml concentration) in human oral epithelial cells [131], the concentrations in vivo are 35- to 500-fold lower (**Table 3.2**) suggesting that they may not play a major role in antiretroviral host defense. Moreover, our studies revealed that HBD-1 and HBD-2 alone failed to inhibit HIV-1 infection at physiological concentration.

Surprisingly, vaginal fluid contains components that are permissive to the transmission of HIV-1. For example, samples of cervicovaginal lavage fluid that contained higher concentrations of calgranulin A have been shown to exhibit greater activation of HIV-1 in latently infected monocytic cells [245]. The human neutrophil-derived serine protease cathepsin G has also been shown to increase the susceptibility of macrophages to HIV-1 infection in vitro [211]. While the mechanism is not known, insights into the role of mucosal polypeptides that increase the probability of transmission and infection of HIV-1 would be critical in the development of effective antiretroviral treatments and preventatives. Taken together the above studies reveal that human vaginal fluid plays a crucial role in innate host defense against HIV-1 transmission.

# CHAPTER FOUR: ANALYSIS OF PUTATIVE CLUSTERS OF REGULATORY MODULES IN THE RETROCYCLIN PROMOTER

## 4.1 Introduction

The expression of many antimicrobial peptides, such as defensins, can be induced in response to pathogenic assaults. Defensins, produced by both leukocytes and epithelial cells, are classified into 3 sub-families ( $\alpha$ -, $\beta$ - and  $\theta$ -defensins) based on their intramolecular disulfide bonds and tertiary structure. Some  $\alpha$ -defensins, such as human neutrophil peptides 1-3 (HNP 1-3), are constitutively expressed and stored in the granules of myeloid cells, while beta-defensins, such as human beta-defensin -1 (HBD-1), are constitutively expressed by keratinocytes [246-248]. On the other hand, certain  $\beta$ -defensins such as HBD 2-4 are inducible by cytokines like interleukin-1 (IL-1), tumour necrosis factor (TNF), or lipopolysaccharide (LPS) [246,249,250].

The third subfamily of defensins known as  $\theta$ -defensins, exist as pseudogenes in humans due to the presence of a premature termination codon which prevents translation of the protein. However,  $\theta$ -defensin mRNA has been detected in the human bone marrow, spleen, thymus, testis, skeletal muscle and cervicovaginal epithelial cells [134]. In our recent study we revealed that functional anti-retroviral human theta-defensins (retrocyclins) can be expressed in promyelocytic cells and cervicovaginal tissues [150]. Further, we showed that aminoglycosides allow read–through of the premature termination codon, thereby enabling the successful translation of native retrocyclin transcripts [150]. Having established that functional retrocyclins can be produced by human cells, we set out to study the regulation of this gene.

In silico analysis of the upstream region of the retrocyclin gene (DEFT-1) revealed numerous transcription factor binding elements that are putatively regulated by IFN such as Interferon Regulatory Factors (IRF-1/IRF-2), Interferon Stimulated Gene Factor-3 (ISGF-3), Interferon Consensus Sequence Binding Protein (ICSBP) and others. Our preliminary studies indicated that retrocyclin mRNA expression was upregulated in epithelial cells in response to interferon type-I treatment or HIV-1 infection. Further, we have demonstrated that phosphorylated signal transducers and activators of transcription (STAT-1/-3) complex binds to the ISGF-3 recognition site on the DEFT-1 promoter resulting in upregulation of retrocyclin gene transcription (A.L.C., unpublished studies). Many of the IFN-inducible genes are regulated in a positive and negative manner by cis-acting elements like IRF-1 and IRF-2 respectively [251-253]. Reports by various groups have suggested that ICSBP/IRF-8 acts as a repressor for IRF-1 induced genes and IFN-beta regulated genes [251,254-256]. Some models speculate that ICSBP mediates its repressive effect by interfering with the binding of the ISGF-3 activator complex [257]. In this chapter we reveal that ICSBP may have a role in negative regulation of retrocyclin gene expression.

An independent genome-wide *in silico* study (K.S., unpublished data) based on the presence of 'clusters of regulatory modules' (CRM) revealed the recurring presence of a immune response cluster in the human chromosome 8p23 region. This cluster was defined by the presence of IRF-1/IRF-2, ISGF-3, AP-1 and NF-  $\kappa$ B sites within a 250 bp region. Such a cluster was found at about 1.5kb upstream of the retrocyclin genes. We have examined the activity of these putative regulatory clusters by cloning them into enhancer trap reporter vectors and examining reporter expression in transfected cells.

#### 4.2 Materials and Methods

## 4.2.1 Maintenance of cell lines

HeLa cells were obtained from ATCC and cultured using DMEM with 10% FBS, 100 g/ml of penicillin and 100 U/ml of streptomycin. HL60 cells were procured from ATCC and were cultured in Iscoves's DMEM with 20% FBS, 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 g/ml streptomycin (I20).

## 4.2.2 Prediction of retrocyclin promoter region

Genome contigs of the human 8p23 region were downloaded from NCBI database. Theta-defensin genes (DEFT) were identified by BLAST analysis. A 3kb region upstream of the transcription start site was extracted for further analysis. Putative transcription factor binding sites were predicted using TESS (<u>http://www.cbil.upenn.edu/cgi-bin/tess/tess</u>)

## **4.2.3 Construction of plasmids**

Human genomic DNA was isolated from HL60 cells using DNeasy kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) as per the manufacturer's instruction. Promoter fragments were PCR amplified as indicated in **Figure 4.2**. PCR products were electrophoresed on an agarose gel using 1X TBE buffer and verified for size. PCR fragments were then restriction digested with enzymes KpnI (New England Biolabs, Beverly, MA) and SacI (New England Biolabs) and ligated into appropriately linearized pGL3-promoter vector (New England Biolabs) using T4 DNA ligase. The ligation reactions were then transformed into TOP 10 chemically competent *E.coli* cells (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and selected using 100 g/ml of ampicillin. Positive clones were verified for sequence integrity at the Florida State University sequencing center, Tallahasse, FL or Genewiz Inc. North Brunswick, NJ.

#### **4.2.4 Transfection and luciferase assay**

HeLa cells were seeded at a density of 4000 cells /well in a 96-well plate and allowed to grow for 2 days. Cells were then transfected with 100 g of positive control (pGL3-control), vector control (pGL3-promoter), or promoter constructs using Effectene reagent (Qiagen) as per the manufacturer's instructions. Cells were stimulated with IFN-beta (1 Unit/ml), or treated with DEX (10<sup>-5</sup> M) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), or both as indicated. Twenty-four hour post-transfection, cells were lysed and luciferase activity was measured using Bright Glo luciferase assay kit (Promega, Madison, WI) as instructed by the manufacturer's guidelines.

#### 4.2.5 Statistics

Data is represented as fold increase over base line. Raw data was normalized to pGL3-basic vector. The threshold was set to the activity of control vector (pGL3-prom). Experiments were repeated four times. Statistical significance was determined by Wilcoxon-rank sum test. All statistical analyses were performed using the statistical package R (www.r-project.org).

#### 4.3 Results

## 4.3.1 Computational analysis of retrocyclin promoter region

The DEFT genes were located on the chromosome 8 by BLAST analysis and the sequence of a 3 kb region upstream of the transcription start site was analyzed. Transcription factor binding sites

were predicted using Transcription Element Search Software (TESS) in the TRANSFAC database. The search revealed the binding sites for transcription factors IRF-1/IRF-2, ISGF-3, ICSBP or IRF-8 that are IFN response elements. In addition, we also predicted NF-  $\kappa$ B and AP-1 binding sites that are located on numerous genes involved in immune response [258,259]. **Figure 4.1** shows the transcription factor binding sites located in the 3 kb region upstream of DEFT gene.



**Figure 4.1: Schematic representation of the putative cluster on retrocyclin promoter.** Figure illustrates the native retrocyclin gene along with a 3 kb upstream region. The transcription factor binding sites located on the putative cluster of regulatory module (CRM) are marked. The region amplified to create constructs NV-CLS, SK-CLS and NS-CLS are shown.

Most of the predicted clusters were present within 1.4-1.7 kilobases upstream of the gene start site. This 1.5 kilobase separation was representative of the distance between a distal CRM and the gene start site by computational analysis (K.S. personal communication). From the regions that contained the clusters, we amplified and cloned two different overlapping fragments into an enhancer trap vector containing a luciferase reporter. Primary amongst the tested fragments was NV-CLS, a 533 bp region containing the predicted cluster. Similarly, the computationally identified cluster (SK-CLS) was also cloned into the enhancer trap vector as shown in **Figure 4.1**. It is important to note that the SK-CLS cluster is located upstream of a copy of another retrocyclin gene in the chromosome 8p23 region and is 81.5% similar to the sequence shown in **Figure 4.2**.

NV-	-CLS-Fwd
	-1700
AGAACTGTGTGTAAGAATACCACGCCCGAATC <mark>TCACCAGCTC</mark> TCCTGTGA AP-1	-1650
TAACGCTCATGCAGTGCTGCGGAAATGCCTATGGACTGGAGTGTGCTCTG	-1600
TGTGCAGGAAGCAGGTCCA <mark>GGTTTCACTTC</mark> CGCAGGACAT <u>GGGACATTTC</u> ICSBP, IRF-1/IRF-2 NF-kB	-1550
CAGAACCCGGAGATCTTCCTCTCGCTCATATACACCCCTTCATATTTAGT	-1500
CCCTATAACCTCATCATTGCGACCCTACAGGCACCTACTAATGCCCTGGA	-1450
AGCTAAAACTGTCACCAGAGCCTCAGTTTCCCCCAAAGAGCCCCAAATTTCT	-1400
TCTTATGCTGGGGTGAGACTGGTGCTCACTTCCCCAAAGCTGAAGTTCC SK-CLS-Rev - TRF-1/TRF-2	-1350
TGGGCCTGCCACACCATCAGGAATTCACTGCTTCCTCAGAGGGACAGGAGA	-1300
CCCCACTGCTCTGCCACAGCGACCGCCTCTAGCAAAGCTTGAGATGCCTC	-1250
TTCTACCTTAAGGTTGAGGGGGGGGTGCTTTAGTTATCACTCCACTGCCCCC NV-CLS-Rev 🗲	-1200
AGGCCTCCACCGGCCGATGCCTGCTGCCTTCACACAGAGCTGCGGGGGGG	-1150

**Figure 4.2: Sequence of an enhancer cluster upstream of retrocyclin gene.** Figure shows the sequence of the region -1750 bp to -1150 bp upstream of the retrocyclin gene. The transcription factor binding sites predicted using TESS is highlighted. The black arrows represent the NV-CLS fragment and the blue arrows indicate the SK-CLS and NS-CLS fragments.

#### **4.3.2 IFN response elements contribute to activity of retrocyclin promoter**

Our preliminary analysis on the activity of SK-CLS and NV-CLS revealed that SK-CLS fragment showed higher expression of luciferase than NV-CLS when transfected into HeLa cells (**Figure 4.3A**). However, this was observed in a cell lineage specific manner, and only certain HeLa cell lines allowed the expression of reporter from the SK-CLS fragment. In order to explain the

observed differences in expression, we compared the transcription factor binding sites in SK-CLS and NV-CLS fragments. We identified an ICSBP/IRF-8 binding site in NV-CLS, but not in SK-CLS. ICSBP/IRF-8 has been shown to be a repressor for IFN-inducible genes [254-256,260]. In order to understand the role of ICSBP/IRF-8 in the regulation of this cluster, a deletion construct NS-CLS (**Figure 4.1**) was created using a forward primer located downstream of the ICSBP binding site and cloned into pGL3-prom vector (**Figure 4.2**).

# **4.3.3 Role of ICSBP/IRF-8 in the regulation of putative clusters of regulatory modules located on retrocyclin promoter.**

Constructs SK-CLS, NV-CLS and NS-CLS or pGL3-prom (vector control) were transfected into HeLa cells and treated with vehicle control (Figure 4.3A),  $10^{-5}$  M Dexamethasone (DEX), an inhibitor of ICSBP/IRF-8 (Figure 4.3B), 1 Unit/ml of IFN- $\beta$  (Figure 4.3C), or DEX and IFN- $\beta$  (Figure 4.3D). Twenty-four hours post-transfection, cells were lysed and luciferase was quantified. Treatment with DEX in cells transfected with NV-CLS, but not SK-CLS or NS-CLS increased the expression of luciferase (1.5 fold) as compared to vector control, suggesting a role for ICSBP/IRF-8 in the regulation of retrocyclin gene expression. Although the application of 1 Unit/ml of IFN- $\beta$  to transfected cells showed only a modest increase in the activity of the enhancer fragments after 24 hr, addition of DEX to cells primed with IFN- $\beta$  showed an increase in the activity of the NV-CLS fragment. A Wilcoxon rank sum statistical analysis of the activity of NV-CLS was determined to have a *p*-value = 0.05 (Figure 4.3B, 4.3C and 4.3D). This shows that the retrocyclin gene expression may be tightly regulated by the ISRE elements and ICSBP/IRF-8 transcription factor.



**Figure 4.3:** Activity of retrocyclin enhancer clusters. HeLa cells were transfected with pGL3-prom (vector control) or SK-CLS or NV-CLS or NS-CLS and treated with vehicle control or 10-5 M Dexamethasone (DEX) or 1 Unit/ml of IFN- $\beta$  for 24 hr. Activity of the enhancer clusters was measured by quantifying luciferase. Data is represented as fold increase over baseline (pGL3-basic). The dotted line represents the activity of the SV40 minimal promoter of control vector.

### 4.4 Discussion

In this study, we have identified CRM's that respond to a cohort of transcriptional regulators (IRF-1/2, ISGF-3, ICSBP, NF- $\kappa$ B and AP-1) upstream of the retrocylin genes. Further, we have evidence that ICSBP plays a role in down-regulation of retrocyclin gene expression. Originally it

was thought that the expression of ICSBP was restricted to cells of lymphoid origin, but some groups have isolated active ICSBP from epithelial cells [261,262]. In our hands, we found that application of dexamethasone, an inhibitor of ICSBP increased the activity of the retrocyclin enhancer cluster in cervicovaginal epithelial cells. Activating the transcription of retrocyclin genes using interferons and restoring the translation using aminglycosides might provide the host cell with a potential shortcut in the activation of its antiviral defense.

Interestingly, despite being a pseudogene, retrocyclin gene transcription is responsive to HIV-1 infection and treatment with IFNs in cell lines (A.L.C., unpublished studies). This raises interesting possibilities about the gene itself since it resides in the highly polymorphic 8p23 region in the human genome [134,137,263,264]. It is known that genomes give birth to novel genes in polymorphic regions that witness high levels of recombination, called the 'gene nurseries' [265]. Given that the 8p23 region is polymorphic and the retrocyclin gene itself is lost only recently in evolution (in hominids), it is possible that the region is currently undergoing changes [134]. Following this line of reason, one can expect the current state of retrocylin genes (expressed pseudogenes) to be nothing but a snap shot in evolutionary history, and a single point mutation could reverse these dormant genes into active genes.

In conclusion, we have demonstrated that the retrocyclin genes are under the control of a complex, tightly regulated cluster with Interferon being an important hub in this regulatory network. Knowledge of retrocyclin gene cluster regulation would enable us to exploit their interferon mediated activation for therapeutic purposes.

# **CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION**

Sexual transmission of HIV-1 continues to be the most common mode of spread of HIV-1 infection [3,4]. Despite decades of research efforts, there are no effective drugs to treat HIV-1 infection. Development of HIV-1 vaccines has been difficult due to the rapid mutation rate of the virus. Therefore, there is an urgent need for effective prophylactic measures active against HIV-1 to curb the spread of the AIDS pandemic. Prevention methods such as condom use are effective to prevent HIV-1 entry. However, women who are at greatest risk of acquiring HIV infection often are unable to negotiate condom use, which is under the control of the male sexual partner. Topical vaginal microbicides are a viable HIV-1 prevention strategy that provides women with control over their sexual health [71,266,267].

In our studies, we have taken a simple approach to translate a human theta-defensin pseudogene, retrocyclin and activate an innate antiviral mechanism in human cells. Theta-defensins are 18-residue macrocyclic peptides formed by the head-to-tail ligation of two nona-peptides, and are potent inhibitors of HIV-1 infection. Whilst theta-defensin genes (DEFT) are intact in Old World monkeys, they exist as pseudogenes in humans [134]. In this work, we revealed that, upon correction of the premature termination codon in DEFT pseudogenes, human myeloid cells produce cyclic, antiviral retrocyclins peptides indicating that these human cells have retained the intact machinery to make cyclic peptides. Further, we exploited the ability of aminoglycoside antibiotics to suppress the premature termination codon in retrocyclin transcripts to produce functional peptides active against HIV-1. Since tobramycin and other aminoglycosides could restore the endogenous production of retrocyclins in human cervicovaginal tissues,

aminoglycoside-based topical vaginal microbicides might be useful in preventing sexual transmission of HIV-1 [150].

The primary sites of HIV-1 infection are the vaginal mucosal surfaces that are replete with antimicrobial proteins or polypeptides that are effectors of innate host defense [111]. Previous studies by other groups have analyzed the role of one or more antimicrobial peptides in host defense. However, the anti-retroviral activity of the antimicrobial peptides present in human vaginal fluid at physiological concentrations has not been not clearly understood. Our study indicates that cationic polypeptides contribute to the majority of the intrinsic anti-HIV-1 property of vaginal fluid. We identified 18 different cationic polypeptides using a proteomic approach in minimally manipulated vaginal fluid. When these cationic peptides were tested individually at physiological concentration they failed to prevent HIV-1 infection, but a mixture of commercially available cationic peptides partially restored the anti-HIV-1 activity. Moreover, depletion of cationic polypeptide stract restored the anti-HIV-1 property. This suggests that the intrinsic property to inhibit HIV-1 entry resides in the cationic polypeptide fraction of human vaginal fluid [132].

In spite of the presence of numerous antimicrobial peptides, prevalence and transmission of HIV-1 continues to rise. Reduction in the expression of antimicrobial peptides in vaginal fluid may be associated with increased risk of HIV-1 infection [111,132]. Therefore, enhancing the expression of antiviral peptides such as retrocyclins during these periods could help in preventing HIV-1 infection. We analyzed the regulation of expression of retrocyclin gene and identified putative

clusters of regulatory modules located in the gene upstream region. This regulatory cluster contained various transcription factor binding sites that are involved in IFN response pathway. One of the transcription factor binding sites: Interferon Stimulated Gene Factor -3 (ISGF-3) was determined to be associated with activated signal transducers and activators of transcription (STAT) complex and upregulate the expression of retrocyclin (A.L.C. unpublished study). Another factor called Interferon Consensus Sequence Binding Protein (ICSBP) acted as a negative regulator of retrocyclin gene expression. Our data suggest that despite being a pseudogene, retrocyclin expression is regulated in a positive and negative manner. Understanding the regulation of retrocyclins by interferons would help in enhancing the expression of retrocyclins. A combination of interferons and aminoglycosides could help to activate and express endogenous retrocyclin peptides to prevent HIV-1 infection.

In conclusion, we have shown that if the premature termination codon in retrocyclin transcript is restored human myeloid cells can express cyclic active retrocyclin peptides [150]. Moreover, the premature termination codon can be readthrough by aminoglycosides to express endogenous antiretroviral retrocyclins [150]. The desirable properties of retrocyclins and its congeners, such as broad spectrum activity against various strains of HIV-1 [141-143], activity in the acidic pH of human vaginal fluid [162], low cytotoxicity to human cells and ectocervical tissues [150,162] makes them promising molecules to develop as topical microbicides to prevent HIV-1 infection.

# APPENDIX : INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD – APPROVED CONSENT FORM FOR HUMAN SUBJECTS



University of Central Florida Institutional Review Board Office of Research & Commercialization 12201 Research Parkway, Suite 501 Orlando, Florida 32826-3246 Telephone: 407-823-2901, 407-882-2012 or 407-882-2276 www.research.ucf.edu/compliance/irb.html

# EXPEDITED CONTINUING REVIEW APPROVAL NOTICE

#### From : UCF Institutional Review Board FWA00000351, Exp. 10/8/11, IRB00001138

To: Alexander M. Cole and Co-PIs: Amy L. Cole

Date : January 05, 2009

IRB Number: BIO-07-04219

#### Study Title: Retrocyclins: Circular defensins active against HIV-1

Dear Researcher,

This letter serves to notify you that the continuing review application for the above study was reviewed and approved by the IRB designated reviewer on 1/5/2009 through the expedited review process according to 45 CFR 46 (and/or 21 CFR 50/56 if FDA-regulated).

Continuation of this study has been approved for a one-year period. The expiration date is 1/4/2010. This studywas determined to be no more than minimal risk and the categories for which this study qualified for expedited revieware:

3. Prospective collection of biological specimens for research purposes by noninvasive means.

4. Collection of data through noninvasive procedures (not involving general anesthesia or sedation) routinelyemployed in clinical practice, excluding procedures involving x-rays or microwaves. Where medical devices are employed they must be cleared/approved for marketing.

<u>Use of the approved, stamped consent document(s) is required.</u> The new form supersedes all previous versions, which are now invalid for further use. Only approved investigators (or other approved key study personnel) may solicit consent for research participation. Subjects or their representatives must receive a copy of the consent form(s). All data must be retained in a locked file cabinet for a minimum of three years (six if HIPAA applies) past the completion of this research. Any links to the identification of participants should be maintained on a password-protected computer if electronic information is used. Additional requirements may be imposed by your fundingagency, your department, or other entities. Access to data is limited to authorized individuals listed as key study personnel.

To continue this research beyond the expiration date, a Continuing Review Form must be submitted 2-4 weeks priorto the expiration date. Use the Unanticipated Problem Report Form or the Serious Adverse Event Form (within 5 working days of event or knowledge of event) to report problems or events to the IRB. Do not make changes to thestudy (i.e., protocol methodology, consent form, personnel, site, etc.) before obtaining IRB approval. Changes can be submitted for IRB review using the Addendum/Modification Request Form. An Addendum/Modification Request Form cannot be used to extend the approval period of a study. All forms may be completed and submitted online at <a href="https://iris.research.ucf.edu">https://iris.research.ucf.edu</a>.

On behalf of Tracy Dietz, Ph.D., UCF IRB Chair, this letter is signed by:

Joanne muratori

**IRB** Coordinator

# LIST OF REFERENCES

1. Saglio SD, Kurtzman JT, Radner AB (1996) HIV infection in women: an escalating health concern. Am Fam Physician 54: 1541-1548, 1554-1546.

2. Burger H, Weiser B (2001) Biology of HIV-1 in women and men. Clin Obstet Gynecol 44: 137-143.

3. Smith PD, Wahl SM, Ogra PL, Mestecky J, Lamm ME, et al. (1999) Immunobiology of mucosal HIV-1 infection. Mucosal Immunology. San Diego: Academic Press. pp. 977-989.

4. Belyakov IM, Berzofsky JA, Yarilin AA, Snyder JT, Alexander-Miller MA, et al. (2004) Immunobiology of mucosal HIV infection and the basis for development of a new generation of mucosal AIDS vaccinesCytokines in the thymus: production and biological effectsMolecular mechanisms and biological significance of CTL avidity. Immunity 20: 247-253.

5. Haynes BF, Pantaleo G, Fauci AS (1996) Toward an understanding of the correlates of protective immunity to HIV infection. Science 271: 324-328.

6. Furuse K, Ishizeki C, Iwahara S (1983) Studies on spermicidal activity of surfactants. I. Correlation between spermicidal effect and physicochemical properties of p-menthanylphenyl polyoxyethylene (8.8) ether and related surfactants. J Pharmacobiodyn 6: 359-372.

7. D'Cruz OJ, Shih MJ, Yiv SH, Chen CL, Uckun FM (1999) Synthesis, characterization and preclinical formulation of a dual-action phenyl phosphate derivative of bromo-methoxy zidovudine (compound WHI-07) with potent anti-HIV and spermicidal activities. Mol Hum Reprod 5: 421-432.

8. D'Cruz OJ, Zhu Z, Yiv SH, Chen CL, Waurzyniak B, et al. (1999) WHI-05, a novel bromomethoxy substituted phenyl phosphate derivative of zidovudine, is a dual-action spermicide with potent anti-HIV activity. Contraception 59: 319-331.

9. Iyer V, Poddar SS (2008) Update on nonoxynol-9 as vaginal spermicide. Eur J Contracept Reprod Health Care 13: 339-350.

10. Niruthisard S, Roddy RE, Chutivongse S (1991) The effects of frequent nonoxynol-9 use on the vaginal and cervical mucosa. Sex Transm Dis 18: 176-179.

11. Niruthisard S, Roddy RE, Chutivongse S (1992) Use of nonoxynol-9 and reduction in rate of gonococcal and chlamydial cervical infections. Lancet 339: 1371-1375.

12. Van Damme L, Niruthisard S, Atisook R, Boer K, Dally L, et al. (1998) Safety evaluation of nonoxynol-9 gel in women at low risk of HIV infection. Aids 12: 433-437.

13. Roddy RE, Cordero M, Cordero C, Fortney JA (1993) A dosing study of nonoxynol-9 and genital irritation. Int J STD AIDS 4: 165-170.

14. Roddy RE, Zekeng L, Ryan KA, Tamoufe U, Tweedy KG (2002) Effect of nonoxynol-9 gel on urogenital gonorrhea and chlamydial infection: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 287: 1117-1122.

15. Weir SS, Roddy RE, Zekeng L, Feldblum PJ (1995) Nonoxynol-9 use, genital ulcers, and HIV infection in a cohort of sex workers. Genitourin Med 71: 78-81.

16. Low-Beer N, Gabe R, McCormack S, Kitchen VS, Lacey CJ, et al. (2002) Dextrin sulfate as a vaginal microbicide: randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial including healthy female volunteers and their male partners. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 31: 391-398.

17. Stafford MK, Cain D, Rosenstein I, Fontaine EA, McClure M, et al. (1997) A placebocontrolled, double-blind prospective study in healthy female volunteers of dextrin sulphate gel: a novel potential intravaginal virucide. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 14: 213-218.

18. Van Damme L, Jespers V, Van Dyck E, Chapman A (2002) Penile application of dextrin sulphate gel (Emmelle). Contraception 66: 133-136.

19. Anderson RA, Feathergill K, Diao XH, Chany C, 2nd, Rencher WF, et al. (2004) Contraception by Ushercell (cellulose sulfate) in formulation: duration of effect and dose effectiveness. Contraception 70: 415-422.

20. Malonza IM, Mirembe F, Nakabiito C, Odusoga LO, Osinupebi OA, et al. (2005) Expanded Phase I safety and acceptability study of 6% cellulose sulfate vaginal gel. Aids 19: 2157-2163.

21. Coggins C, Blanchard K, Alvarez F, Brache V, Weisberg E, et al. (2000) Preliminary safety and acceptability of a carrageenan gel for possible use as a vaginal microbicide. Sex Transm Infect 76: 480-483.

22. Bollen LJ, Blanchard K, Kilmarx PH, Chaikummao S, Connolly C, et al. (2008) No increase in cervicovaginal proinflammatory cytokines after Carraguard use in a placebo-controlled randomized clinical trial. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 47: 253-257.

23. Brache V, Croxatto H, Kumar N, Sitruk-Ware R, Cochon L, et al. (2009) Effect of sexual intercourse on the absorption of levonorgestrel after vaginal administration of 0.75 mg in Carraguard gel: a randomized, cross-over, pharmacokinetic study. Contraception 79: 150-154.

24. Pistorius AG, van de Wijgert JH, Sebola M, Friedland B, Nagel E, et al. (2004) Microbicide trials for preventing HIV/AIDS in South Africa: phase II trial partricipants' experiences and psychological needs. SAHARA J 1: 78-86.

25. Skoler-Karpoff S, Ramjee G, Ahmed K, Altini L, Plagianos MG, et al. (2008) Efficacy of Carraguard for prevention of HIV infection in women in South Africa: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 372: 1977-1987.

26. Turville SG, Aravantinou M, Miller T, Kenney J, Teitelbaum A, et al. (2008) Efficacy of Carraguard-based microbicides in vivo despite variable in vitro activity. PLoS ONE 3: e3162.

27. van de Wijgert J, Jones H, Pistorius A, de Kock A, Sebola M, et al. (2005) Phase III microbicide trial methodology: opinions of experienced expanded safety trial participants in South Africa. SAHARA J 2: 311-319.

28. van de Wijgert JH, Braunstein SL, Morar NS, Jones HE, Madurai L, et al. (2007) Carraguard Vaginal Gel Safety in HIV-Positive Women and Men in South Africa. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 46: 538-546.

29. Cummins JE, Jr., Guarner J, Flowers L, Guenthner PC, Bartlett J, et al. (2007) Preclinical testing of candidate topical microbicides for anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 activity and tissue toxicity in a human cervical explant culture. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 51: 1770-1779.

30. Fletcher PS, Shattock RJ (2008) PRO-2000, an antimicrobial gel for the potential prevention of HIV infection. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 9: 189-200.

31. Keller MJ, Guzman E, Hazrati E, Kasowitz A, Cheshenko N, et al. (2007) PRO 2000 elicits a decline in genital tract immune mediators without compromising intrinsic antimicrobial activity. Aids 21: 467-476.

32. Roth S, Monsour M, Dowland A, Guenthner PC, Hancock K, et al. (2007) Effect of topical microbicides on infectious human immunodeficiency virus type 1 binding to epithelial cells. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 51: 1972-1978.

33. Sachdev DD, Zerhouni-Layachi B, Ortigoza M, Profy AT, Tuen M, et al. (2009) The Differential Binding and Activity of PRO 2000 Against Diverse HIV-1 Envelopes. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 51: 125-129.

34. Teleshova N, Chang T, Profy A, Klotman ME (2008) Inhibitory effect of PRO 2000, a candidate microbicide, on dendritic cell-mediated human immunodeficiency virus transfer. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 52: 1751-1758.

35. Lacey CJ, Wright A, Weber JN, Profy AT (2006) Direct measurement of in-vivo vaginal microbicide levels of PRO 2000 achieved in a human safety study. Aids 20: 1027-1030.

36. Morrow K, Rosen R, Richter L, Emans A, Forbes A, et al. (2003) The acceptability of an investigational vaginal microbicide, PRO 2000 Gel, among women in a phase I clinical trial. J Womens Health (Larchmt) 12: 655-666.

37. Tabet SR, Callahan MM, Mauck CK, Gai F, Coletti AS, et al. (2003) Safety and acceptability of penile application of 2 candidate topical microbicides: BufferGel and PRO 2000 Gel: 3 randomized trials in healthy low-risk men and HIV-positive men. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 33: 476-483.

38. Ballagh SA, Brache V, Mauck C, Callahan MM, Cochon L, et al. (2008) A Phase I study of the functional performance, safety and acceptability of the BufferGel Duet. Contraception 77: 130-137.

39. Garg S, Anderson RA, Chany CJ, 2nd, Waller DP, Diao XH, et al. (2001) Properties of a new acid-buffering bioadhesive vaginal formulation (ACIDFORM). Contraception 64: 67-75.

40. van De Wijgert J, Fullem A, Kelly C, Mehendale S, Rugpao S, et al. (2001) Phase 1 trial of the topical microbicide BufferGel: safety results from four international sites. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 26: 21-27.

41. Williams DL, Newman DR, Ballagh SA, Creinin MD, Barnhart K, et al. (2007) Phase I safety trial of two vaginal microbicide gels (Acidform or BufferGel) used with a diaphragm compared to KY jelly used with a diaphragm. Sex Transm Dis 34: 977-984.

42. Neurath AR, Strick N, Jiang S, Li YY, Debnath AK (2002) Anti-HIV-1 activity of cellulose acetate phthalate: synergy with soluble CD4 and induction of "dead-end" gp41 six-helix bundles. BMC Infect Dis 2: 6.

43. Neurath AR, Strick N, Li YY, Debnath AK (2001) Cellulose acetate phthalate, a common pharmaceutical excipient, inactivates HIV-1 and blocks the coreceptor binding site on the virus envelope glycoprotein gp120. BMC Infect Dis 1: 17.

44. Jespers V, Buve A, Van Damme L (2007) Safety trial of the vaginal microbicide cellulose sulfate gel in HIV-positive men. Sex Transm Dis 34: 519-522.

45. Mauck C, Frezieres R, Walsh T, Robergeau K, Callahan M (2001) Cellulose sulfate: tolerance and acceptability of penile application. Contraception 64: 377-381.

46. Schwartz JL, Mauck C, Lai JJ, Creinin MD, Brache V, et al. (2006) Fourteen-day safety and acceptability study of 6% cellulose sulfate gel: a randomized double-blind Phase I safety study. Contraception 74: 133-140.

47. Neurath AR, Strick N, Li YY (2002) Anti-HIV-1 activity of anionic polymers: a comparative study of candidate microbicides. BMC Infect Dis 2: 27.

48. D'Cruz OJ, Uckun FM (2004) Clinical development of microbicides for the prevention of HIV infection. Curr Pharm Des 10: 315-336.

49. Joshi SN, Dutta S, Kumar BK, Katti U, Kulkarni S, et al. (2008) Expanded safety study of Praneem polyherbal vaginal tablet among HIV-uninfected women in Pune, India: a phase II clinical trial report. Sex Transm Infect 84: 343-347.

50. Raghuvanshi P, Bagga R, Malhotra D, Gopalan S, Talwar GP (2001) Spermicidal & contraceptive properties of Praneem polyherbal pessary. Indian J Med Res 113: 135-141.

51. Sharma RS, Mathur AK, Chandhiok N, Datey S, Saxena NC, et al. (2009) Phase II clinical trial with Praneem polyherbal tablets for assessment of their efficacy in symptomatic women with

abnormal vaginal discharge (an ICMR task force study). Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 103: 167-172.

52. Talwar GP, Raghuvanshi P, Mishra R, Banerjee U, Rattan A, et al. (2000) Polyherbal formulations with wide spectrum antimicrobial activity against reproductive tract infections and sexually transmitted pathogens. Am J Reprod Immunol 43: 144-151.

53. Haim H, Si Z, Madani N, Wang L, Courter JR, et al. (2009) Soluble CD4 and CD4-mimetic compounds inhibit HIV-1 infection by induction of a short-lived activated state. PLoS Pathog 5: e1000360.

54. Fletcher CV, DeVille JG, Samson PM, Moye JH, Jr., Church JA, et al. (2007) Nonlinear pharmacokinetics of high-dose recombinant fusion protein CD4-IgG2 (PRO 542) observed in HIV-1-infected children. J Allergy Clin Immunol 119: 747-750.

55. (2008) Anti-HIV agents. Receptor blocker (SCH 532706) enters clinical trials. TreatmentUpdate 20: 8-9.

56. Emmelkamp JM, Rockstroh JK (2008) Maraviroc, risks and benefits: a review of the clinical literature. Expert Opin Drug Saf 7: 559-569.

57. Fadel H, Temesgen Z (2007) Maraviroc. Drugs Today (Barc) 43: 749-758.

58. Lieberman-Blum SS, Fung HB, Bandres JC (2008) Maraviroc: a CCR5-receptor antagonist for the treatment of HIV-1 infection. Clin Ther 30: 1228-1250.

59. Telenti A (2009) Safety concerns about CCR5 as an antiviral target. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 4: 131-135.

60. (2007) Anti-HIV agents. PRO 140--a receptor antibody for HIV. TreatmentUpdate 19: 7-8.

61. (2008) Phase 2 clinical trials started on PRO 140. AIDS Patient Care STDS 22: 159-160.

62. Jacobson JM, Saag MS, Thompson MA, Fischl MA, Liporace R, et al. (2008) Antiviral activity of single-dose PRO 140, a CCR5 monoclonal antibody, in HIV-infected adults. J Infect Dis 198: 1345-1352.

63. Ketas TJ, Frank I, Klasse PJ, Sullivan BM, Gardner JP, et al. (2003) Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 attachment, coreceptor, and fusion inhibitors are active against both direct and trans infection of primary cells. J Virol 77: 2762-2767.

64. Howard OM, Korte T, Tarasova NI, Grimm M, Turpin JA, et al. (1998) Small molecule inhibitor of HIV-1 cell fusion blocks chemokine receptor-mediated function. J Leukoc Biol 64: 6-13.

65. Ketas TJ, Klasse PJ, Spenlehauer C, Nesin M, Frank I, et al. (2003) Entry inhibitors SCH-C, RANTES, and T-20 block HIV type 1 replication in multiple cell types. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 19: 177-186.

66. Fujii N, Tamamura H (2001) Peptide-lead CXCR4 antagonists with high anti-HIV activity. CurrOpin InvestigDrugs 2: 1198-1202.

67. Murakami T, Nakajima T, Koyanagi Y, Tachibana K, Fujii N, et al. (1997) A small molecule CXCR4 inhibitor that blocks T cell line-tropic HIV-1 infection. JExpMed 186: 1389-1393.

68. Boyd MR, Gustafson KR, McMahon JB, Shoemaker RH, O'Keefe BR, et al. (1997) Discovery of cyanovirin-N, a novel human immunodeficiency virus-inactivating protein that binds viral surface envelope glycoprotein gp120: potential applications to microbicide development. AntimicrobAgents Chemother 41: 1521-1530.

69. Chang LC, Bewley CA (2002) Potent inhibition of HIV-1 fusion by cyanovirin-N requires only a single high affinity carbohydrate binding site: characterization of low affinity carbohydrate binding site knockout mutants. J Mol Biol 318: 1-8.

70. Giomarelli B, Provvedi R, Meacci F, Maggi T, Medaglini D, et al. (2002) The microbicide cyanovirin-N expressed on the surface of commensal bacterium Streptococcus gordonii captures HIV-1. AIDS 16: 1351-1356.

71. Reeves JD, Piefer AJ (2005) Emerging drug targets for antiretroviral therapy. Drugs 65: 1747-1766.

72. Turpin JA (2002) Considerations and development of topical microbicides to inhibit the sexual transmission of HIV. Expert OpinInvestigDrugs 11: 1077-1097.

73. Witvrouw M, Fikkert V, Hantson A, Pannecouque C, O'Keefe B R, et al. (2005) Resistance of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 to the high-mannose binding agents cyanovirin N and concanavalin A. J Virol 79: 7777-7784.

74. (2008) Raltegravir: new Drug. Alternative to enfuvirtide/darunavir in multidrug-resistant HIV. Prescrire Int 17: 135-137.

75. Makinson A, Reynes J (2009) The fusion inhibitor enfuvirtide in recent antiretroviral strategies. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 4: 150-158.

76. Pan C, Lu H, Qi Z, Jiang S (2009) Synergistic efficacy of combination of enfuvirtide and sifuvirtide, the first- and next-generation HIV-fusion inhibitors. Aids.

77. Wang RR, Yang LM, Wang YH, Pang W, Tam SC, et al. (2009) Sifuvirtide, a potent HIV fusion inhibitor peptide. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 382: 540-544.

78. Kitchen CM, Nuno M, Kitchen SG, Krogstad P (2008) Enfuvirtide antiretroviral therapy in HIV-1 infection. Ther Clin Risk Manag 4: 433-439.

79. Pulido F, Del Pozo MA, Fernandez-Guerrero M, Moreno A, Oteo JA, et al. (2008) Patients' perception and effectiveness of a treatment containing enfuvirtide when used in HIV-infected patients without very advanced disease. HIV Clin Trials 9: 83-90.

80. Clotet B, Capetti A, Soto-Ramirez LE, Gatell JM, Rowell L, et al. (2008) A randomized, controlled study evaluating an induction treatment strategy in which enfuvirtide was added to an oral, highly active antiretroviral therapy regimen in treatment-experienced patients: the INTENSE study. J Antimicrob Chemother 62: 1374-1378.

81. DeJesus E, Gottlieb MS, Gathe JC, Jr., Greenberg ML, Guittari CJ, et al. (2008) Safety and efficacy of enfuvirtide in combination with darunavir-ritonavir and an optimized background regimen in treatment-experienced human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients: the below the level of quantification study. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 52: 4315-4319.

82. Pusch O, Kalyanaraman R, Tucker LD, Wells JM, Ramratnam B, et al. (2006) An anti-HIV microbicide engineered in commensal bacteria: secretion of HIV-1 fusion inhibitors by lactobacilli. Aids 20: 1917-1922.

83. Chancey CJ, Khanna KV, Seegers JF, Zhang GW, Hildreth J, et al. (2006) Lactobacilliexpressed single-chain variable fragment (scFv) specific for intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) blocks cell-associated HIV-1 transmission across a cervical epithelial monolayer. J Immunol 176: 5627-5636.

84. Clarke JG, Peipert JF, Hillier SL, Heber W, Boardman L, et al. (2002) Microflora changes with the use of a vaginal microbicide. Sex Transm Dis 29: 288-293.

85. Baeten J, Hassan W, Chohan V, Richardson B, Mandaliya K, et al. (2009) Prospective study of correlates of vaginal Lactobacillus colonization among high-risk HIV-1 seronegative women. Sex Transm Infect.

86. Liu X, Lagenaur LA, Lee PP, Xu Q (2008) Engineering of a human vaginal Lactobacillus strain for surface expression of two-domain CD4 molecules. Appl Environ Microbiol 74: 4626-4635.

87. Alkhatib G (2009) The biology of CCR5 and CXCR4. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 4: 96-103.

88. Broder CC, Collman RG (1997) Chemokine receptors and HIV. J Leukoc Biol 62: 20-29.

89. Castro BA, Cheng-Mayer C, Evans LA, Levy JA (1988) HIV heterogeneity and viral pathogenesis. Aids 2 Suppl 1: S17-27.

90. Clapham P, McKnight A, Simmons G, Weiss R (1993) Is CD4 sufficient for HIV entry? Cell surface molecules involved in HIV infection. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 342: 67-73.

91. Habeshaw JA, Dalgleish AG, Bountiff L, Newell AL, Wilks D, et al. (1990) AIDS pathogenesis: HIV envelope and its interaction with cell proteins. Immunol Today 11: 418-425.

92. Levy JA (1993) Pathogenesis of human immunodeficiency virus infection. Microbiol Rev 57: 183-289.

93. McNicholl JM, Smith DK, Qari SH, Hodge T (1997) Host genes and HIV: the role of the chemokine receptor gene CCR5 and its allele. Emerg Infect Dis 3: 261-271.

94. Miller AD (1996) Cell-surface receptors for retroviruses and implications for gene transfer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93: 11407-11413.

95. Moore JP, Trkola A, Dragic T (1997) Co-receptors for HIV-1 entry. Curr Opin Immunol 9: 551-562.

96. Signoret N, Poignard P, Blanc D, Sattentau QJ (1993) Human and simian immunodeficiency viruses: virus-receptor interactions. Trends Microbiol 1: 328-333.

97. Stingl G, Rappersberger K, Tschachler E, Gartner S, Groh V, et al. (1990) Langerhans cells in HIV-1 infection. J Am Acad Dermatol 22: 1210-1217.

98. Wilkinson D (1996) Cofactors provide the entry keys. HIV-1. Curr Biol 6: 1051-1053.

99. Mosier DE (2009) How HIV changes its tropism: evolution and adaptation? Curr Opin HIV AIDS 4: 125-130.

100. Perrin L, Kaiser L, Yerly S (2003) Travel and the spread of HIV-1 genetic variants. Lancet Infect Dis 3: 22-27.

101. McCutchan FE (2006) Global epidemiology of HIV. J Med Virol 78 Suppl 1: S7-S12.

102. Butler IF, Pandrea I, Marx PA, Apetrei C (2007) HIV genetic diversity: biological and public health consequences. Curr HIV Res 5: 23-45.

103. Steain MC, Wang B, Dwyer DE, Saksena NK (2004) HIV-1 co-infection, superinfection and recombination. Sex Health 1: 239-250.

104. van der Kuyl AC, Cornelissen M (2007) Identifying HIV-1 dual infections. Retrovirology 4: 67.

105. van Harmelen J, Wood R, Lambrick M, Rybicki EP, Williamson AL, et al. (1997) An association between HIV-1 subtypes and mode of transmission in Cape Town, South Africa. Aids 11: 81-87.

106. Geijtenbeek TB, Kwon DS, Torensma R, van Vliet SJ, van Duijnhoven GC, et al. (2000) DC-SIGN, a dendritic cell-specific HIV-1-binding protein that enhances trans-infection of T cells [see comments]. Cell 100: 587-597.

107. Cameron PU, Freudenthal PS, Barker JM, Gezelter S, Inaba K, et al. (1992) Dendritic cells exposed to human immunodeficiency virus type-1 transmit a vigorous cytopathic infection to CD4+ T cells. Science 257: 383-387.

108. Weissenhorn W, Dessen A, Harrison SC, Skehel JJ, Wiley DC (1997) Atomic structure of the ectodomain from HIV-1 gp41. Nature 387: 426-430.

109. Chan DC, Fass D, Berger JM, Kim PS (1997) Core structure of gp41 from the HIV envelope glycoprotein. Cell 89: 263-273.

110. Tan K, Liu J, Wang J, Shen S, Lu M (1997) Atomic structure of a thermostable subdomain of HIV-1 gp41. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94: 12303-12308.

111. Valore EV, Park CH, Igreti SL, Ganz T (2002) Antimicrobial components of vaginal fluid. Am J ObstetGynecol 187: 561-568.

112. Wagner G, Levin RJ, Hafez ES, Evans TN (1978) Vaginal fluid. In: Hafez ES, editor. The human vagina. Amsterdam: North-Holland. pp. 121-137.

113. Harmsen MC, Swart PJ, de Bethune MP, Pauwels R, De Clercq E, et al. (1995) Antiviral effects of plasma and milk proteins: lactoferrin shows potent activity against both human immunodeficiency virus and human cytomegalovirus replication in vitro. J InfectDis 172: 380-388.

114. Franken C, Meijer CJ, Dijkman JH (1989) Tissue distribution of antileukoprotease and lysozyme in humans. J Histochem Cytochem 37: 493-498.

115. Wahl SM, McNeely TB, Janoff EN, Shugars D, Worley P, et al. (1997) Secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor (SLPI) in mucosal fluids inhibits HIV-I. Oral Dis 3 Suppl 1: S64-69.

116. McNeely TB, Dealy M, Dripps DJ, Orenstein JM, Eisenberg SP, et al. (1995) Secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor: a human saliva protein exhibiting anti-human immunodeficiency virus 1 activity in vitro. J Clin Invest 96: 456-464.

117. McNeely TB, Shugars DC, Rosendahl M, Tucker C, Eisenberg SP, et al. (1997) Inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infectivity by secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor occurs prior to viral reverse transcription. Blood 90: 1141-1149.

118. Turpin JA, Schaeffer CA, Bu M, Graham L, Buckheit RW, Jr., et al. (1996) Human immunodeficiency virus type-1 (HIV-1) replication is unaffected by human secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor. Antiviral Res 29: 269-277.

119. Leonova L, Kokryakov VN, Aleshina GM, Hong T, Nguyen T, et al. (2001) Circular minidefensins and posttranslational generation of molecular diversity. J Leukoc Biol 70: 461-464.

120. Cole AM, Lehrer RI (2003) Minidefensins: antimicrobial peptides with activity against HIV-1. Curr Pharm Des 9: 1463-1473.

121. Ganz T (1999) Defensins and host defense. Science 286: 420-421.

122. Ganz T (2003) Defensins: antimicrobial peptides of innate immunity. NatRevImmunol 3: 710-720.

123. Ganz T, Lehrer RI (1994) Defensins. CurrOpinImmunol 6: 584-589.

124. Lehrer RI (2004) Primate defensins. Nat Rev Microbiol 2: 727-738.

125. Lehrer RI, Bevins CL, Ganz T, Ogra PL, Mestecky J, et al. (1999) Defensins and other antimicrobial peptides. Mucosal Immunology. San Diego: Academic Press. pp. 89-99.

126. Lehrer RI, Ganz T (1992) Defensins: endogenous antibiotic peptides from human leukocytes. Ciba Found Symp 171: 276-290; discussion 290-273.

127. Lehrer RI, Ganz T (2002) Defensins of vertebrate animals. CurrOpinImmunol 14: 96-102.

128. Wang W, Owen SM, Rudolph DL, Cole AM, Hong T, et al. (2004) Activity of alpha- and theta-defensins against primary isolates of HIV-1. JImmunol 173: 515-520.

129. Chang TL, Vargas J, Jr., DelPortillo A, Klotman ME (2005) Dual role of alpha-defensin-1 in anti-HIV-1 innate immunity. JClinInvest 115: 765-773.

130. Furci L, Sironi F, Tolazzi M, Vassena L, Lusso P (2007) Alpha-defensins block the early steps of HIV-1 infection: interference with the binding of gp120 to CD4. Blood 109: 2928-2935.

131. Quinones-Mateu ME, Lederman MM, Feng Z, Chakraborty B, Weber J, et al. (2003) Human epithelial beta-defensins 2 and 3 inhibit HIV-1 replication. AIDS 17: F39-F48.

132. Venkataraman N, Cole AL, Svoboda P, Pohl J, Cole AM (2005) Cationic polypeptides are required for anti-HIV-1 activity of human vaginal fluid. JImmunol 175: 7560-7567.

133. Cole AM, Wang W, Waring AJ, Lehrer RI (2004) Retrocyclins: using past as prologue. CurrProtein PeptSci 5: 373-381.

134. Nguyen TX, Cole AM, Lehrer RI (2003) Evolution of primate theta-defensins: a serpentine path to a sweet tooth. Peptides 24: 1647-1654.

135. Cole AM, Hong T, Boo LM, Nguyen T, Zhao C, et al. (2002) Retrocyclin: a primate peptide that protects cells from infection by T- and M-tropic strains of HIV-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99: 1813-1818.

136. Tang YQ, Yuan J, Osapay G, Osapay K, Tran D, et al. (1999) A Cyclic Antimicrobial Peptide Produced in Primate Leukocytes by the Ligation of Two Truncated à-Defensins. Science 286: 498-502.

137. Linzmeier R, Ho CH, Hoang BV, Ganz T (1999) A 450-kb contig of defensin genes on human chromosome 8p23. Gene 233: 205-211.

138. Sparkes RS, Kronenberg M, Heinzmann C, Daher KA, Klisak I, et al. (1989) Assignment of defensin gene(s) to human chromosome 8p23. Genomics 5: 240-244.

139. Trabi M, Schirra HJ, Craik DJ (2001) Three-dimensional structure of RTD-1, a cyclic antimicrobial defensin from Rhesus macaque leukocytes. Biochemistry 40: 4211-4221.

140. Tran D, Tran PA, Tang YQ, Yuan J, Cole T, et al. (2001) Homodimeric Theta defensins from Rhesus macaque leukocytes: Isolation, synthesis, antimicrobial activities and bacterial binding properties of the cyclic peptides. J Biol Chem.

141. Cole AM, Hong T, Boo LM, Nguyen T, Zhao C, et al. (2002) Retrocyclin: a primate peptide that protects cells from infection by T- and M-tropic strains of HIV-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99: 1813-1818.

142. M nk C, Wei G, Yang OO, Waring AJ, Wang W, et al. (2003) The theta-Defensin, Retrocyclin, Inhibits HIV-1 Entry. AIDS ResHumRetroviruses 19: 875-881.

143. Owen SM, Rudolph DL, Wang W, Cole AM, Waring AJ, et al. (2004) RC-101, a retrocyclin-1 analogue with enhanced activity against primary HIV type 1 isolates. AIDS ResHumRetroviruses 20: 1157-1165.

144. Cole AL, Herasimtschuk A, Gupta P, Waring AJ, Lehrer RI, et al. (2007) The retrocyclin analogue RC-101 prevents human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection of a model human cervicovaginal tissue construct. Immunology 121: 140-145.

145. Gallo SA, Wang W, Rawat SS, Jung G, Waring AJ, et al. (2006) Theta-defensins prevent HIV-1 Env-mediated fusion by binding gp41 and blocking 6-helix bundle formation. Journal of Biological Chemistry 281: 18787-18792.

146. Fuhrman CA, Warren AD, Waring AJ, Dutz SM, Sharma S, et al. (2007) Retrocyclin RC-101 overcomes cationic mutations on the heptad repeat 2 region of HIV-1 gp41. FEBS J 274: 6477-6487.

147. Cole AL, Yang OO, Warren AD, Waring AJ, Lehrer RI, et al. (2006) HIV-1 adapts to a retrocyclin with cationic amino acid substitutions that reduce fusion efficiency of gp41. JImmunol 176: 6900-6905.

148. Leikina E, Delanoe-Ayari H, Melikov K, Cho MS, Chen A, et al. (2005) Carbohydratebinding molecules inhibit viral fusion and entry by crosslinking membrane glycoproteins. NatImmunol 6: 995-1001.

149. Yasin B, Wang W, Pang M, Cheshenko N, Hong T, et al. (2004) Theta defensins protect cells from infection by herpes simplex virus by inhibiting viral adhesion and entry. JVirol 78: 5147-5156.

150. Venkataraman N, Cole AL, Ruchala P, Waring AJ, Lehrer RI, et al. (2009) Reawakening Retrocyclins: Ancestral Human Defensins Active Against HIV-1. PLoS Biol 7: e95.

151. Brooks DA, Muller VJ, Hopwood JJ (2006) Stop-codon read-through for patients affected by a lysosomal storage disorder. Trends MolMed 12: 367-373.

152. Hamed SA (2006) Drug evaluation: PTC-124--a potential treatment of cystic fibrosis and Duchenne muscular dystrophy. IDrugs 9: 783-789.

153. Lai CH, Chun HH, Nahas SA, Mitui M, Gamo KM, et al. (2004) Correction of ATM gene function by aminoglycoside-induced read-through of premature termination codons. ProcNatlAcadSciUSA 101: 15676-15681.

154. Nudelman I, Rebibo-Sabbah A, Shallom-Shezifi D, Hainrichson M, Stahl I, et al. (2006) Redesign of aminoglycosides for treatment of human genetic diseases caused by premature stop mutations. BioorgMedChemLett 16: 6310-6315.

155. Zingman LV, Park S, Olson TM, Alekseev AE, Terzic A (2007) Aminoglycoside-induced translational read-through in disease: overcoming nonsense mutations by pharmacogenetic therapy. ClinPharmacolTher 81: 99-103.

156. Zarocostas J (2007) WHO and UN slash their estimates of global HIV prevalence. BMJ 335: 1069.

157. Bokazhanova A, Rutherford GW (2006) The epidemiology of HIV and AIDS in the world. CollAntropol 30 Suppl 2: 3-10.

158. Titti F, Cafaro A, Ferrantelli F, Tripiciano A, Moretti S, et al. (2007) Problems and emerging approaches in HIV/AIDS vaccine development. ExpertOpinEmergDrugs 12: 23-48.

159. Munk C, Wei G, Yang OO, Waring AJ, Wang W, et al. (2003) The theta-defensin, retrocyclin, inhibits HIV-1 entry. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 19: 875-881.

160. Cole AM (2003) Minidefensins and other antimicrobial peptides:candidate anti-HIV microbicides. Expert Opin Ther Targets 7: 329-341.

161. Tran D, Tran PA, Tang YQ, Yuan J, Cole T, et al. (2002) Homodimeric theta-defensins from Rhesus macaque leukocytes - Isolation, synthesis, antimicrobial activities, and bacterial binding properties of the cyclic peptides. Journal of Biological Chemistry 277: 3079-3084.

162. Cole AL, Herasimtschuk A, Gupta P, Waring AJ, Lehrer RI, et al. (2007) The retrocyclin analogue RC-101 prevents human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection of a model human cervicovaginal tissue construct. Immunology 121: 140-145.

163. Keeling KM, Bedwell DM (2002) Clinically relevant aminoglycosides can suppress diseaseassociated premature stop mutations in the IDUA and P53 cDNAs in a mammalian translation system. JMolMed 80: 367-376.

164. Wilschanski M, Yahav Y, Yaacov Y, Blau H, Bentur L, et al. (2003) Gentamicin-induced correction of CFTR function in patients with cystic fibrosis and CFTR stop mutations. NEnglJMed 349: 1433-1441.

165. Sermet-Gaudelus I, Renouil M, Fajac A, Bidou L, Parbaille B, et al. (2007) In vitro prediction of stop-codon suppression by intravenous gentamicin in patients with cystic fibrosis: a pilot study. BMCMed 5: 5.

166. Lynch SR, Puglisi JD (2001) Structural origins of aminoglycoside specificity for prokaryotic ribosomes. JMolBiol 306: 1037-1058.

167. Lynch SR, Puglisi JD (2001) Structure of a eukaryotic decoding region A-site RNA. JMolBiol 306: 1023-1035.

168. Gallagher R, Collins S, Trujillo J, McCredie K, Ahearn M, et al. (1979) Characterization of the continuous, differentiating myeloid cell line (HL-60) from a patient with acute promyelocytic leukemia. Blood 54: 713-733.

169. Collins SJ, Gallo RC, Gallagher RE (1977) Continuous growth and differentiation of human myeloid leukaemic cells in suspension culture. Nature 270: 347-349.

170. Platt EJ, Wehrly K, Kuhmann SE, Chesebro B, Kabat D (1998) Effects of CCR5 and CD4 cell surface concentrations on infections by macrophagetropic isolates of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. JVirol 72: 2855-2864.

171. Deng H, Liu R, Ellmeier W, Choe S, Unutmaz D, et al. (1996) Identification of a major coreceptor for primary isolates of HIV-1. Nature 381: 661-666.

172. Landau NR, Littman DR (1992) Packaging system for rapid production of murine leukemia virus vectors with variable tropism. JVirol 66: 5110-5113.

173. Lusso P, Cocchi F, Balotta C, Markham PD, Louie A, et al. (1995) Growth of macrophagetropic and primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) isolates in a unique CD4+ T- cell clone (PM1): failure to downregulate CD4 and to interfere with cell-line-tropic HIV-1. JVirol 69: 3712-3720.

174. Tanguay RL, Gallie DR (1996) Translational efficiency is regulated by the length of the 3' untranslated region. MolCell Biol 16: 146-156.

175. Daly NL, Chen YK, Rosengren KJ, Marx UC, Phillips ML, et al. (2007) Retrocyclin-2: structural analysis of a potent anti-HIV theta-defensin. Biochemistry 46: 9920-9928.

176. Mazumder B, Seshadri V, Fox PL (2003) Translational control by the 3'-UTR: the ends specify the means. Trends BiochemSci 28: 91-98.

177. Du M, Liu X, Welch EM, Hirawat S, Peltz SW, et al. (2008) PTC124 is an orally bioavailable compound that promotes suppression of the human CFTR-G542X nonsense allele in a CF mouse model. ProcNatlAcadSciUSA 105: 2064-2069.

178. Welch EM, Barton ER, Zhuo J, Tomizawa Y, Friesen WJ, et al. (2007) PTC124 targets genetic disorders caused by nonsense mutations. Nature 447: 87-91.

179. (2004) AIDS epidemic update: December 2004. WHO Report.

180. Evans A, Lee R, Mammen-Tobin A, Piyadigamage A, Shann S, et al. (2004) HIV revisited: the global impact of the HIV/AIDS epidemic. Skinmed 3: 149-156.

181. Marcus U, Dittmar MT, Krausslich HG (2002) HIV: epidemiology and strategies for therapy and vaccination. Intervirology 45: 260-266.

182. (2000) WHO outlines three-pronged attack against AIDS epidemic. AIDS Wkly 7: 17.

183. (2004) Women and HIV/AIDS: confronting the crisis. . UNAIDS.

184. Zhang L, He T, Talal A, Wang G, Frankel SS, et al. (1998) In vivo distribution of the human immunodeficiency virus/simian immunodeficiency virus coreceptors: CXCR4, CCR3, and CCR5. J Virol 72: 5035-5045.

185. Patterson BK, Landay A, Andersson J, Brown C, Behbahani H, et al. (1998) Repertoire of chemokine receptor expression in the female genital tract: implications for human immunodeficiency virus transmission. AmJ Pathol 153: 481-490.

186. Smith PD, Li L, Meng G (1999) Mucosal events in the pathogenesis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. JInfectDis 179 Suppl 3: S436-S440.

187. Grouard G, Clark EA (1997) Role of dendritic and follicular dendritic cells in HIV infection and pathogenesis [see comments]. CurrOpinImmunol 9: 563-567.

188. Steinman RM, Inaba K (1999) Myeloid dendritic cells. JLeukocBiol 66: 205-208.

189. Huggins GR, Preti G (1981) Vaginal odors and secretions. Clin Obstet Gynecol 24: 355-377.

190. Cohen MS, Black JR, Proctor RA, Sparling PF (1984) Host defences and the vaginal mucosa. A re-evaluation. Scand J Urol Nephrol Suppl 86: 13-22.

191. Florisa R, Recio I, Berkhout B, Visser S (2003) Antibacterial and antiviral effects of milk proteins and derivatives thereof. Curr Pharm Des 9: 1257-1275.

192. Groot F, Geijtenbeek TB, Sanders RW, Baldwin CE, Sanchez-Hernandez M, et al. (2005) Lactoferrin prevents dendritic cell-mediated human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmission by blocking the DC-SIGN--gp120 interaction. J Virol 79: 3009-3015.

193. Berkhout B, Floris R, Recio I, Visser S (2004) The antiviral activity of the milk protein lactoferrin against the human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Biometals 17: 291-294.

194. Pillay K, Coutsoudis A, Agadzi-Naqvi AK, Kuhn L, Coovadia HM, et al. (2001) Secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor in vaginal fluids and perinatal human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmission. J Infect Dis 183: 653-656.

195. Wu Z, Cocchi F, Gentles D, Ericksen B, Lubkowski J, et al. (2005) Human neutrophil alphadefensin 4 inhibits HIV-1 infection in vitro. FEBS Lett 579: 162-166.

196. Boskey ER, Moench TR, Hees PS, Cone RA (2003) A self-sampling method to obtain large volumes of undiluted cervicovaginal secretions. Sex Transm Dis 30: 107-109.
197. Cole AM, Liao HI, Stuchlik O, Tilan J, Pohl J, et al. (2002) Cationic Polypeptides Are Required for Antibacterial Activity of Human Airway Fluid. J Immunol 169: 6985-6991.

198. Harwig SS, Chen NP, Park AS, Lehrer RI (1993) Purification of cysteine-rich bioactive peptides from leukocytes by continuous acid-urea-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Analytic Biochemistry 208: 382-386.

199. Schaegger H, von Jagow G (1987) Tricine-sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis for the separation of proteins in the range from 1 to 100 kDa. Analytic Biochemistry 166: 368-379.

200. Medzihradszky KF, Campbell JM, Baldwin MA, Falick AM, Juhasz P, et al. (2000) The characteristics of peptide collision-induced dissociation using a high-performance MALDI-TOF/TOF tandem mass spectrometer. AnalChem 72: 552-558.

201. Tseung CW, McMahon LG, Vazquez J, Pohl J, Gregory JF, III (2004) Partial amino acid sequence and mRNA analysis of cytosolic pyridoxine-beta-D-glucoside hydrolase from porcine intestinal mucosa: proposed derivation from the lactase-phlorizin hydrolase gene. BiochemJ 380: 211-218.

202. Freeman WM, Brebner K, Amara SG, Reed MS, Pohl J, et al. (2005) Distinct proteomic profiles of amphetamine self-administration transitional states. PharmacogenomicsJ 5: 203-214.

203. Nakashima H, Yamamoto N, Masuda M, Fujii N (1993) Defensins inhibit HIV replication in vitro [letter]. AIDS 7: 1129-1129.

204. Swart PJ, Kuipers EM, Smit C, Van Der Strate BW, Harmsen MC, et al. (1998) Lactoferrin. Antiviral activity of lactoferrin. AdvExpMedBiol 443: 205-213.

205. Davie JR (1985) Peptide mapping of basic proteins by proteolysis in acetic acid/urea-minislab polyacrylamide gels. Analytic Biochemistry 144: 522-526.

206. Cole AM, Lehrer RI (2003) Minidefensins: antimicrobial peptides with activity against HIV-1. CurrPharmDes 9: 1463-1473.

207. Andersen JH, Osbakk SA, Vorland LH, Traavik T, Gutteberg TJ (2001) Lactoferrin and cyclic lactoferricin inhibit the entry of human cytomegalovirus into human fibroblasts. Antiviral Res 51: 141-149.

208. Tiruppathi C, Naqvi T, Wu Y, Vogel SM, Minshall RD, et al. (2004) Albumin mediates the transcytosis of myeloperoxidase by means of caveolae in endothelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 7699-7704.

209. Goetz DH, Holmes MA, Borregaard N, Bluhm ME, Raymond KN, et al. (2002) The neutrophil lipocalin NGAL is a bacteriostatic agent that interferes with siderophore-mediated iron acquisition. MolCell 10: 1033-1043.

210. Flo TH, Smith KD, Sato S, Rodriguez DJ, Holmes MA, et al. (2004) Lipocalin 2 mediates an innate immune response to bacterial infection by sequestrating iron. Nature 432: 917-921.

211. Moriuchi H, Moriuchi M, Fauci AS (2000) Cathepsin G, a neutrophil-derived serine protease, increases susceptibility of macrophages to acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol 74: 6849-6855.

212. Wiedow O, Meyer-Hoffert U (2005) Neutrophil serine proteases: potential key regulators of cell signalling during inflammation. J Intern Med 257: 319-328.

213. Hirsch JG (1958) Bactericidal action of histone. J Exp Med 108: 925-944.

214. Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, et al. (2004) Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. Science 303: 1532-1535.

215. Rose FR, Bailey K, Keyte JW, Chan WC, Greenwood D, et al. (1998) Potential role of epithelial cell-derived histone H1 proteins in innate antimicrobial defense in the human gastrointestinal tract. InfectImmun 66: 3255-3263.

216. Wang YQ, Griffiths WJ, Jornvall H, Agerberth B, Johansson J (2002) Antibacterial peptides in stimulated human granulocytes - Characterization of ubiquitinated histone H1A. European Journal of Biochemistry 269: 512-518.

217. Dickinson Zimmer JS, Voelker DR, Bernlohr DA, Murphy RC (2004) Stabilization of leukotriene A4 by epithelial fatty acid-binding protein in the rat basophilic leukemia cell. J Biol Chem 279: 7420-7426.

218. Schurer NY (2002) Implementation of fatty acid carriers to skin irritation and the epidermal barrier. Contact Dermatitis 47: 199-205.

219. Gu M, Wang W, Song WK, Cooper DN, Kaufman SJ (1994) Selective modulation of the interaction of alpha 7 beta 1 integrin with fibronectin and laminin by L-14 lectin during skeletal muscle differentiation. J Cell Sci 107 (Pt 1): 175-181.

220. Cooper DN, Massa SM, Barondes SH (1991) Endogenous muscle lectin inhibits myoblast adhesion to laminin. J Cell Biol 115: 1437-1448.

221. Offner H, Celnik B, Bringman TS, Casentini-Borocz D, Nedwin GE, et al. (1990) Recombinant human beta-galactoside binding lectin suppresses clinical and histological signs of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol 28: 177-184.

222. Cherayil BJ, Chaitovitz S, Wong C, Pillai S (1990) Molecular cloning of a human macrophage lectin specific for galactose. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87: 7324-7328.

223. Lee-Huang S, Huang PL, Sun Y, Kung HF, Blithe DL, et al. (1999) Lysozyme and RNases as anti-HIV components in beta-core preparations of human chorionic gonadotropin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96: 2678-2681.

224. Cole AM, Dewan P, Ganz T (1999) Innate antimicrobial activity of nasal secretions. Infect Immun 67: 3267-3275.

225. Turk V, Bode W (1991) The cystatins: protein inhibitors of cysteine proteinases. FEBS Lett 285: 213-219.

226. Verdot L, Lalmanach G, Vercruysse V, Hartmann S, Lucius R, et al. (1996) Cystatins upregulate nitric oxide release from interferon-gamma-activated mouse peritoneal macrophages. J Biol Chem 271: 28077-28081.

227. Brandtzaeg P, Gabrielsen TO, Dale I, Muller F, Steinbakk M, et al. (1995) The leucocyte protein L1 (calprotectin): a putative nonspecific defence factor at epithelial surfaces. AdvExpMedBiol 371A: 201-206.

228. Vray B, Hartmann S, Hoebeke J (2002) Immunomodulatory properties of cystatins. Cell Mol Life Sci 59: 1503-1512.

229. Steinbakk M, Naess-Andresen CF, Lingaas E, Dale I, Brandtzaeg P, et al. (1990) Antimicrobial actions of calcium binding leucocyte L1 protein, calprotectin. Lancet 336: 763-765.

230. Bastian A, Schafer H (2001) Human alpha-defensin 1 (HNP-1) inhibits adenoviral infection in vitro. RegulPept 101: 157-161.

231. Ganz T, Selsted ME, Szklarek D, Harwig SS, Daher K, et al. (1985) Defensins. Natural peptide antibiotics of human neutrophils. J Clin Invest 76: 1427-1435.

232. Daher KA, Selsted ME, Lehrer RI (1986) Direct inactivation of viruses by human granulocyte defensins. JVirol 60: 1068-1074.

233. Guo CJ, Tan N, Song L, Douglas SD, Ho WZ (2004) Alpha-defensins inhibit HIV infection of macrophages through upregulation of CC-chemokines. AIDS 18: 1217-1218.

234. Wright PF, Kozlowski PA, Rybczyk GK, Goepfert P, Staats HF, et al. (2002) Detection of mucosal antibodies in HIV type 1-infected individuals. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 18: 1291-1300.

235. Russell MW, Mestecky J (2002) Humoral immune responses to microbial infections in the genital tract. Microbes Infect 4: 667-677.

236. Kaiserlian D, Cerf-Bensussan N, Hosmalin A (2005) The mucosal immune system: from control of inflammation to protection against infections. J Leukoc Biol 78: 311-318.

237. Mestecky J, Fultz PN, Donze HH, Cummins JE, Jr., Schwiebert RS, et al. (1999) Mucosal immune system of the human genital tract

HIV-1/simian immunodeficiency virus infection of human and nonhuman primate lymphocytes results in the migration of CD2+ T cells into the intestine of engrafted SCID mice. J Infect Dis 179 Suppl 3: S470-474.

238. Ganz T (2003) Antimicrobial polypeptides. J LeukocBiol.

239. Ganz T, Weiss J (1997) Antimicrobial peptides of phagocytes and epithelia. Semin Hematol 34: 343-354.

240. Lehrer RI, Ganz T (2002) Cathelicidins: a family of endogenous antimicrobial peptides. Curr Opin Hematol 9: 18-22.

241. Zanetti M, Gennaro R, Romeo D (1995) Cathelicidins: a novel protein family with a common proregion and a variable C-terminal antimicrobial domain. FEBS Lett 374: 1-5.

242. Levin RJ, Wagner G (1977) Human vaginal fluid-ionic composition and modification by sexual arousal [proceedings]. J Physiol (Lond) 266: 62P-63P.

243. Wagner G, Levin RJ (1980) Electrolytes in vaginal fluid during the menstrual cycle of coitally active and inactive women. J Reprod Fertil 60: 17-27.

244. Valore EV, Park CH, Quayle AJ, Wiles KR, McCray PB, et al. (1998) Human á-defensin-1: An antimicrobial peptide of urogenital tissues. J Clin Invest 101: 1633-1642.

245. Hashemi FB, Mollenhauer J, Madsen LD, Sha BE, Nacken W, et al. (2001) Myeloid-related protein (MRP)-8 from cervico-vaginal secretions activates HIV replication. Aids 15: 441-449.

246. Supp DM, Karpinski AC, Boyce ST (2004) Expression of human beta-defensins HBD-1, HBD-2, and HBD-3 in cultured keratinocytes and skin substitutes. Burns 30: 643-648.

247. Tsutsumi-Ishii Y, Hasebe T, Nagaoka I (2000) Role of CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein site in transcription of human neutrophil peptide-1 and-3 defensin genes. Journal of Immunology 164: 3264-3273.

248. Tsutsumi-Ishii Y, Yaguchi H, Tsuboi R, Nagaoka I (2000) Transcriptional regulation of human beta-defensin genes. Journal of Leukocyte Biology: 18-18.

249. Liu AY, Destoumieux D, Wong AV, Park CH, Valore EV, et al. (2002) Human betadefensin-2 production in keratinocytes is regulated by interleukin-1, bacteria, and the state of differentiation. J Invest Dermatol 118: 275-281.

250. Sumikawa Y, Asada H, Hoshino K, Azukizawa H, Katayama I, et al. (2006) Induction of beta-defensin 3 in keratinocytes stimulated by bacterial lipopeptides through toll-like receptor 2. Microbes Infect 8: 1513-1521.

251. Tailor P, Tamura T, Ozato K (2006) IRF family proteins and type I interferon induction in dendritic cells. Cell Res 16: 134-140.

252. Taniguchi T, Ogasawara K, Takaoka A, Tanaka N (2001) IRF family of transcription factors as regulators of host defense. Annu Rev Immunol 19: 623-655.

253. Nguyen H, Hiscott J, Pitha PM (1997) The growing family of interferon regulatory factors. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 8: 293-312.

254. Levi BZ, Hashmueli S, Gleit-Kielmanowicz M, Azriel A, Meraro D (2002) ICSBP/IRF-8 transactivation: a tale of protein-protein interaction. J Interferon Cytokine Res 22: 153-160.

255. Nelson N, Marks MS, Driggers PH, Ozato K (1993) Interferon consensus sequence-binding protein, a member of the interferon regulatory factor family, suppresses interferon-induced gene transcription. Mol Cell Biol 13: 588-599.

256. Tamura T, Ozato K (2002) ICSBP/IRF-8: its regulatory roles in the development of myeloid cells. J Interferon Cytokine Res 22: 145-152.

257. Kanno Y, Kozak CA, Schindler C, Driggers PH, Ennist DL, et al. (1993) The genomic structure of the murine ICSBP gene reveals the presence of the gamma interferon-responsive element, to which an ISGF3 alpha subunit (or similar) molecule binds. Mol Cell Biol 13: 3951-3963.

258. Vallabhapurapu S, Karin M (2009) Regulation and function of NF-kappaB transcription factors in the immune system. Annu Rev Immunol 27: 693-733.

259. Ghosh S, May MJ, Kopp EB (1998) NF-kappa B and Rel proteins: evolutionarily conserved mediators of immune responses. Annu Rev Immunol 16: 225-260.

260. Weisz A, Marx P, Sharf R, Appella E, Driggers PH, et al. (1992) Human interferon consensus sequence binding protein is a negative regulator of enhancer elements common to interferon-inducible genes. J Biol Chem 267: 25589-25596.

261. Li W, Nagineni CN, Ge H, Efiok B, Chepelinsky AB, et al. (1999) Interferon consensus sequence-binding protein is constitutively expressed and differentially regulated in the ocular lens. J Biol Chem 274: 9686-9691.

262. Li W, Nagineni CN, Efiok B, Chepelinsky AB, Egwuagu CE (1999) Interferon regulatory transcription factors are constitutively expressed and spatially regulated in the mouse lens. Dev Biol 210: 44-55.

263. Fellermann K, Stange DE, Schaeffeler E, Schmalzl H, Wehkamp J, et al. (2006) A chromosome 8 gene-cluster polymorphism with low human beta-defensin 2 gene copy number predisposes to Crohn disease of the colon. Am J Hum Genet 79: 439-448.

264. Taudien S, Galgoczy P, Huse K, Reichwald K, Schilhabel M, et al. (2004) Polymorphic segmental duplications at 8p23.1 challenge the determination of individual defensin gene repertoires and the assembly of a contiguous human reference sequence. BMC Genomics 5: 92.

265. Demuth JP, Hahn MW (2009) The life and death of gene families. Bioessays 31: 29-39.

266. Fauci AS (2007) Pathogenesis of HIV disease: opportunities for new prevention interventions. ClinInfectDis 45 Suppl 4: S206-S212.

267. Mauck C, Doncel G (2001) An Update on Vaginal Microbicides. CurrInfectDisRep 3: 561-568.